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Chad "Corntassel" Smith 
8 h G X  CHEROKEE NATION Principal chief 

P.O. BOX 948 
Tahlequah, OK 74465-0948 Joe Grayson 

918-453-5000 JLCd .I&h&l 
Deputy Principal Chief 

April 27,2006 

Principal Chief, Deputy Chief, Tribal Council, and Citizens of the Cherokee Nation: 

We are pleased to submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Cherokee Nation (the 
"Nation" or "Tribe") for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005. Accountability for both the 
accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, 
rests with the Nation. We believe the data presented is accurate in all material aspects, and fairly 
presents the financial position and results of operations for the year ended September 30,2005. 

A comprehensive analysis of the Nation's financial position and activities for the year are contained 
in this report. It has been prepared by the Nation's Financial Resources Group and conforms to the 
"pyramid" approach to governmental financial reporting as prescribed in National Council on 
Government Accounting ('WCGA") Statement 1, "Governmental Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Principles." The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report is organized into three distinct 
sections: 

1. Introductor~ Section--The introductory section includes this transmittal letter, a list of tribal 
officials and the Nation's organizational chart. 

2. Financial Section--This section includes the report of the Nation's independent auditors, 
management's discussion and analysis, the basic financial statements, notes to the basic 
financial statements, combining and individual fund financial statements, and a schedule of 
budget to actual for the enterprise funds. 

3. Statistical Section--The statistical section presents selected financial, demographic, or 
geographical information, generally presented on a multi-year basis, and intended to enhance 
the reader's understanding of the Nation's financial activities. 

Organization of the Government 

The Nation is the federally recognized government of the Cherokee people and has sovereign status 
granted by treaty and law. The Nation is the second largest federally recognized tribe in the United 
States and is located within the 14 counties of northeastern Oklahoma. The boundary runs northerly 
and southeasterly from Tulsa, Oklahoma to the Kansas and Arkansas state borders. The Nation's 
jurisdictional area-which consists of 9,234 square miles and includes all of nine counties and 
portions of five other counties-was established following the historical boundaries of the Cherokee 
Nation after the Treaty of 1866. 



The Cherokee Nation has a tripartite form of government designed after the original democratic form 
of government of the Iroquois that was adopted by the United States. The Cherokee Constitution was 

I 
ratified by the majority of voting Cherokees and approved by the Commissioner of Indian Affairs on 
September 5, 1975. This Constitution defines the distribution and separation of powers among the 
three branches of government. The three branches and their respective powers include the: 

I 
(1) Executive Branch--the executive power is vested in the Principal Chief, currently Chadwick 

"Corntassle" Smith. The Principal Chief is responsible for the execution of the laws of the 
Cherokee Nation, establishment of tribal policy and delegation of authority as is necessary 
for the administrative functions of the Cherokee Nation. The Principal Chief maintains an 
ofice at the W. W. Keeler Tribal Complex in Tahlequah (Cherokee County), Oklahoma. 
The Deputy Chief, currently Joe Grayson, Jr., is empowered to act as directed by the 
Principal Chief and also acts as President of the Tribal Council. 

(2) LepisIative Branch--the Legislature consists of fifteen (15) tribal council members, who are 
members of the Cherokee Nation. The Tribal Council is elected to four-year terms from the 
nine districts of the Cherokee Nation. The role of the Tribal Council is to adopt legislation 
and to conduct other business in the best interest of the Cherokee people. 

(3) Judicial Branch--the Judicial Branch consists of the Judicial Appeals Tribunal and the 
Cherokee Nation District Court. Tribunal members are appointed by the, Principal Chief and 
confirmed by the Tribal Council. The primary responsibility of the Judicial Appeals 
Tribunal is to hear and resolve any disagreements arising under the provisions of the 
Constitution or any enactment of the Tribal Council. The District Court system hears all 
cases brought before it under jurisdiction of the Cherokee Nation Code Annotated, Title 20, 
Courts and Procedure. It is composed of a District and an Associate District Judge. 

Between 1907 and 1971, the President of the United States appointed the Principal Chief of the 
Cherokee Nation. Special Congressional legislation was enacted to restore elective rights to the 
Cherokee people and, in 1971 W. W. Keeler became the first elected Principal Chief of the Cherokee 
Nation. In 1975, Ross 0. Swimmer was elected to the office of the Principal Chief and was re- 
elected in 1979 and 1983. In December 1985, Ross 0. Swimmer resigned as Principal Chief of the 
Nation to become the Assistant Secretary of the Department of Interior for the Bureau of Indian 
Affairs. Wilma P. Mankiller, formerly Deputy Chief, was appointed Principal Chief and was elected 
to consecutive four-year terns in 1987 and 1991. Wilma Mankiller chose not to seek re-election in 
1995. Joe Byrd was elected as Principal Chief in 1995. In 1999, Chad Smith was elected as 
Principal Chief. In May 2003, he was re-elected as Principal Chief and has continued his mission of 
improving services, increasing cultural awareness and increasing the resources for the betterment of 
the Cherokee Nation throughout 2005. 

Government Services Provided 

The Executive Branch of the Nation is organized with the Principal Chief and the Deputy Principal 
Chief serving as the final authorities of the administrative operations of the Nation. There are two 
members clll~ently appointed to the Principal Chiefs Cabinet, the 'Secretary-Treasurer and the 
General Counsel. The Secretary-Treasurer provides oversight and direction to the Financial 
Resources Group. The General Counsel represents the Cherokee Nation in all legal proceedings and 



submits written opinions on all questions affecting the public interests or when required by the 
Principal Chief. 

The staff of the Principal Chief includes the Group Leaders of the respective groups who provide 
oversight and general direction. The three major Teams are Direction, Service, and Resources. 

These Teams are comprised of the following: 
1. Direction Team 

a. Government Relations 
b. Strategy 
c. Solutions Development 
d. Communications 

2. Service Team 
a. Education Services 
b. Health Services 
c. Community Services 
d. Commerce Services 
e. Human Services 
f. Career Services 

3. Resource Team 
a. Legal Resources 
b. Financial Resources 
c. Human Resources 
d. Tribal Resources 
e. Government Resources 
f. Information Systems 

Reporting Entity 

The Nation determines its financial reporting entity in accordance with Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board Statement No. 14, "The Financial Reporting Entity," and, based on that criterion, 
has included the following entities as component units within the Nation's basic financial statements. 

Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation ("HACN") 
Cherokee Nation Enterprises, Inc. ("CNE") 
Cherokee Nation Industries, Inc. ("CNI") and related companies 
Cherokee Nation Businesses, Inc. ("CNB) 
Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc. ("CNHKS") 
Cherokee Nation Economic Development Trust Authority ("EDTA") 
Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care Agency ("Agency") 

The nature of the activities of these organizations and the specific basis for inclusion as a component 
unit of the Nation are discussed in the notes to basic financial statements. 



Excluded Organizations 

During 2005, the following organizations did not meet the criteria for inclusion in the reporting entity 
and accordingly their financial operations are excluded from this report. 

Cherokee Nation Education Foundation 
Cherokee National Historical Society 
Adair County Indian Credit Association 
Section 202 Housing Projects--except for Tsa-La-Gi Apartments 
Environmental Advisory Group 

Financial Information 

The management of the Nation is responsible for ensuring that adequate accounting data is compiled 
to allow for the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Management of the Nation is also responsible for establishing and maintaining an 
internal control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the Nation are protected from loss, 
theft or misuse. The intemal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the 
cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived, and (2) the valuation of costs 
and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management. 

Single Audit - As a recipient of federal and state financial assistance, the Nation is responsible for 
ensuring that an adequate intemal control stmcture is in place to ensure compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations related to those programs. This internal control structure is subject to periodic 
evaluation by management of the Nation. 

As a part of the Nation's single audit, tests are made to determine the adequacy of the internal control 
structure, including that portion related to federal financial assistance programs, as well as to 
determine that the Nation has complied with applicable laws and regulations. The results of the 
Nation's single audit for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005, are included in a separately 
issued Single Audit Report. 

Budeet - Title 62, 931-32 provides the legal level of budgetary control for the Cherokee Nation. The 
Executive and Finance Committee of the Council, upon direction of the Secretary-Treasurer and with 
advisement from the Controller, shall formulate an annual appropriations bill. The bill shall contain 
the legal budgeted annual revenue and expenditures for the general fund, and enterprise funds, the 
executive, legislative, and judicial branches of government. The sources of revenue may be based 
upon estimates. The budgeted expenditures for these finds shall not exceed total estimated revenues 
and beginning fund balance. The Executive and Finance Committee of the Council, upon direction 
of the Secretary-Treasurer and with advisement from the Controller, shall be responsible for 
proposing amendments to the annual appropriations law based upon material changes in real or 
estimated revenues and expenditures that affect the total amounts budgeted. Any amendments to the 
annual appropriations bill shall be presented to the full Council for consideration and passage. Any 
funds received by the Cherokee Nation, the use of which is determined by the granting or contracting 
agency (special revenue funds) shall be used only for those purposes and under those conditions for 



which the funds are made available and such funds are not subject to legal appropriation by the 
Tribal Council. 
The basic financial statements contain a budget and actual comparative statement for the General 
Fund, a legally budgeted fund. A budgetary statement for enterprise-funds, which are also legally 
budgeted, is included in the budgetary information section of Other Supplementary Information. 
Budgets for the Nation are prepared on the same basis of accounting as the fmancial reports; 
therefore, no reconciliation is necessary. 

Economic Outlook 

Since fiscal year 2002, the Cherokee Nation primary government has increased its total assets by 
approximately $137,000,000 or 101%. This growth is aligned with our vision for the Cherokee 
Nation as stated in the Declaration of Designed Purpose. This vision states, "The Cherokee Nation 
shall achieve and maintain an enriching cultural identity, economic self-reliance, and a strong 
govemment." Through expansion of its component units, the Nation is working to establish a self- 
reliant economy for the citizens of the Nation. 

In addition to the expansion of component units, the Nation has been successful in partnering with 
local governments to attract new industries and create jobs within the Nation's jurisdiction. 

Use of the Report 

This report will be submitted to the U.S. Department of Interior, Office of Inspector General, in 
compliance with the requirements of the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 
"Audits of States and Local Governments and Non-Profit Organizations." Copies of the reports will 
also be submitted to elected officials of the Nation and various other agencies which require copies 
consistent with the administration of funding provided to the Nation under grants and contracts. Use 
of this report by the departments of the Nation is encouraged. 

Readers of this report should refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis for better 
understanding of the financial activities of the Nation. The MD&A provides the reader with an 
easily readable discussion of the basic financial statements, significant differences, comparative 
analyses, fund financial analysis, significant budget variations, and facts, decisions or conditions 
which are expected to have a significant effect on the Nation's financial position or results of 
operations. 

Certificate of Achievement 

Cherokee Nation was awarded the Govemment Finance Officers Association (GFOA) of the United 
States and Canada, Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for its 
comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. This was the 
fourth consecutive year that the government has achieved this prestigious award. The GFOA awards 
this certification to governmental entities which publish comprehensive annual fmancial reports in 
compliance with GAAP and legal requirements in an understandable and well-organized form. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Principal Chief and Tribal Council 
of the Cherokee Nation 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the  governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the Cherokee Nation (the "Nation"), as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2005, which collectively comprise the Nation's basic financial statements as  listed in the 
table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Nation's management. Our 
responsibility is to express opinions on the respective financial statements based on our audit. We did not 
audit the financial statements of Cherokee Nation I-lome Health services, Inc. ("CNHHS") or Cherokee 
Nation Industries, Inc., CND, LLC, and Cherokee Medical Services, LLC (collectively "CNI"), which are 
discretely presented component units of the Nation. The financial statements for CNHHS and CNI, which 
collectively comprise 8% of total assets and 23% of total operating revenues of the aggregate discretely 
presented component units, were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to 
us, and our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included for the component units, are based on 
the reports of the other auditors. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
S~andards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a 
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Nation's internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles 
used and the significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate 
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of  
the Nation as of September 30,2005, and the respective changes in financial position and respective cash 
flows, where applicable, thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the 
year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of  
America. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our repon dated April 26, 2006 
on our consideration of the Nation's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of  our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 

Member of 
Deloirle Touche Tohrnatru 



control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Slandards and should be considered in assessing the results of our 
audit. 

Management's Discussion and Analysis on pages 12 through 22 is not a required part of the basic 
financial statements but is supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board. This information is the responsibility of the Nation's management. We have applied 
certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods 
of measurement and presentation of the supplementary information. However, we did not audit the 
information and we do not express an opinion on it. 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Nation's basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining financial 
statements and budgetary schedule listed in the foregoing table of contents as other supplementary 
information are oresented for oumoses of additional analvsis and are not a reauired oart of the basic . . 
financial statements of the Nation. This supplementary information is the responsibility of the Nation's 
management. The combining financial statements and budgetary schedule have been subiected to the 
audit& procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly 
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The 
Introductory Section and Statistical Section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit ofthe basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them. 

April 26,2006 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The Nation's management provides Management's Discussion and Analysis of the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Repoi-t ("CAFR") as a tool for readers of the Nation's financial 
statements for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005. Readers of the Nation's financial 
statements are encouraged to utilize this information in conjunction with the information 
provided in the letter of transmittal, which precedes this section, and the accompanying basic 
financial statements and disclosures following this section. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS - PRIMARY GOVERNMENT 

The Nation's assets exceeded its liabilities at the end of fiscal year 2005 by $125 million 
(net assets). Of this total amount, $66 million are unrestricted net assets that may be used 
to meet the government's ongoing obligations. 

The Nation's overall liabilities increased by approximately $17 million to $148 million. 

The net assets increased by $5 million, which is largely attributable to an increase in 
dividends from component units and increases in revenues from motor fuels taxes. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis serves as an introduction to the Nation's basic financial statements. 
The Nation's basic financial staten?ents are comprised of government-wide financial statements, 
fund financial statements, and notes to the basic financial statements. The CAFR also contains 
other information to supplement the basic financial statements. A brief description of the basic 
financial statements follows: 

Basic Financial Statements 

The basic financial statements include two types of financial statements that present different 
views of the Nation, the Goven~ment-Wide Financial Statements and the Fund Financial 
Szatements. The basic financial statements also include Notes ro the Basic Financial Szatemenfs, 
which explain and provide additional detail about some of the information contained in the 
statements. 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The Government- Wide Financial Statements provide a broad overview of the Nation's finances 
and operations in a manner similar to private-sector business. The statements provide 
information about the Nation's financial position on both a short-term and long-term basis. The 
statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting and the economic resources 
management focus. The government-wide financial statements include the Statement of Net 
Assets and the Statement of Activities. 

The Statement of Net Assets presents the assets and liabilities for the entire Nation, with the 
difference reported as "net assets." Increases or decreases in net assets over time, can serve as an 
indicator of the improvement or decline in the Nation's financial position. 



The Statement of Activities presents information about how the Nation's net assets changed 
during the fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported when the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of when the related cash flows occur. Utilizing this method, 
revenues and expenses are reported when earned and incurred, rather than when cash is received 
or expended. 

The financial statements include separate sections for three different types of activities. The 
three types are as follows: 

Governmental Activities - This section presents information about activities supported by 
taxes, intergovernmental revenues (state and federal grants), and private grants. The 
services provided by the Nation's government generally fall into this category, including 
tribal government, health services, education services, human services, community 
services, and other tribal services. 

Business-Type Activities - These types of activities are intended to recover all or a 
substantial portion of their costs through user fees and charges to external users of the 
goods and services. The business type activities of the Nation include the Landfill 
Operations, Tsa-La-Gi Apartments, EDTA, Childhood Development Centers, and Other 
Enterprise Activities. 

' ~ i s c r e f e l ~  Presented Component Units - These are the operations'forwhich the Nation 
has financial accountability, but have certain independent qualities, such as an 
independent Board of Directors. For the most part, these units operate similar to 
private-sector business. 

The Nation's discretely presented component units are: 

Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation ("HACN") 

Cherokee Nation Enterprises, Jnc. ("CNE) 

Cherokee Nation Industries, Inc. ("CNI") and related companies 

Cherokee Nation Businesses, Inc. ("CNB") 

Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Jnc. ("CNHHS") 

Complete financial statements for each of the component units can be obtained fTom their 
respective administrative offices, or by contacting Cherokee Nation, Office of the Controller. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found immediately following this discussion 
and analysis. 

Fund Financial Statements 

A fund is a group of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have 
been separated for specific activities or objectives. The Nation, like state and local governments, 
uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. 



The fund financial statements focus on individual activities of the Nation's government, 
providing more detail than the government-wide financial statements. The funds of the Nation 
are divided into three types, which use different accounting approaches and should be interpreted 
differently. The three types of funds are: 

Governmerztal Funds - Most of the services provided by the Nation are financed and reported 
through the governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for the same 
governmental functions as reported in the government-wide financial statements. However, 
unlike the government-wide financial statements, the governmental fund financial statements 
focus on the near-tern inflows and outflows of expendable resources. These h d  statements 
also focus on the balances of expendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Thls 
approach to financial reporting is known as using the flow of current financial resources and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. This method may be useful in evaluating the 
government's near-term financing requirements. These statements provide a short-term view of 
the Nation's finances that assist in determining if there will be sufficient financial resources to 
meet the current needs of the Nation. 

Because the focus of the govemmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide 
financials statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for govemmental funds 
with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. By doing so, the readers may better understand the long-term impact of the 
government's near-term financing decisions. The Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the 
Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and 
governmental activities. These reconciliations are presented on pages 25 and 27 of the financial 
Statements. 

The Nation maintains four major governmental funds, each presented in a separate column in the 
Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and in the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. The Nation's four major governmental funds are 
the General Fund, Self Governance DO1 Roads, Self Governance DHHS, and Housing and 
Urban Development funds. In addition, the Nation maintains fourteen nonmajor funds, including 
two permanent funds, Sequoyah Endowment and Gammon Educational Tmst, to account for 
other governmental activity. The governmental fund statements can be found on pages 25 and 
26 of this report. 

Proprietary Funds - These funds are used to show activities which operate similar to 
private-sector enterprises. Because these funds charge fees for goods and services provided to 
the Nation and outside customers, they are known as Proprietary Funds. Proprietary funds 
provide the same type of information as the business-type activities in the government-wide 
financial statements, except in more detail. Like the government-wide financial statements, 
proprietary fund financial statements use the accrual basis of accounting. There is no separate 
reconciliation needed between the proprietary fund financial statements and the government- 
wide financial statements for business-type activities. 

The proprietary funds financial statements can be found on pages 29 - 31 immediately following 
the governmental fund financial statements. The Nation's propriety funds include Enterprise and 
Internal Service Funds, which are described below. 



Enterprise Funds - The Nation has five nonmajor enterprise funds. The funds are the Nation's 
Landfill Operations, Tsa-La-Gi Apartments, EDTA, Child Development Centers, and Other 
Enterprises. The nonmajor enterprise combining financial statements can be found on pages 76 - 
78 of this report. 

Internal Sewice Funds - The internal service funds are used to account for activities related to 
goods and services provided by one department to other departments of the Nation and to other 
governmental units, on a cost reimbursement basis. 

The internal service funds are: 

Internal Leases - used to account for the cost to maintain buildings for use by other funds 
of the Nation. 

Force Accounts - used to acquire and maintain equipment and supplies used by other 
funds of the Nation. 

Fringe Pool - used to account for the cost of fringe benefits, including the Nation's 
self-insured health care and worker's compensation benefits, used by other funds of the 
Nation. 

Indirect Cost Pool - used to account for the cost of providing certain services, such as 
accounting, human resources, and acquisition management, to other funds of the Nation. 

Construction Management - used to account for the cost to manage construction of 
buildings for use by other funds of the Nation. 

The internal service funds combining financial statements can be found on pages 79 - 81 of this 
report. 

Cherokee Nation Component Unit Financial Statements - As previously mentioned above, the 
component units are operations over which the Nation has financial accountability, but that have 
independent qualities as well, similar to private-sector business. The government-wide financial 
statements present information for the component units in a single column. The Statement of 
Net Assets and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets present 
detail for each of the five discretely presented component units. 

The financial statements for component units can be found on pages 32 and 33 of this report. 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential for a 
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and the fund financial 
statements. The notes to the basic financial statements can be found on pages 34 - 73 of this 
report. 



Supplementary Information 

The basic financial statements are followed by a section of supplementary information. This 
section of the report includes combining schedules for nonmajor govexmental and enterprise 
funds and internal service funds, and a budgetary comparison sched.de for the Nation's 
enterprise funds. 

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS FOR MAJOR FUNDS 

The following is a comparative analysis for the Nation's major h d s  (in thousands): 

Percentage 
Increase1 Increase/ 

2005 2004 - m e )  (Decrease) 
Major Fund 
General Fund 
Revenues and transfers in (1) $ 54,027 $ 32,227 $ 21,800 67.6 % 
Evpenditwes and transfers out (2) 39,073 23,387 15,686 67.1 % 

Self Governance WI Roads 
Revenues and transfers in (3) 3,522 5,274 (1;752) (33.2)% 
Ekp~ditures and transfers out (3) 3,522 5,398 (1,876) (34.8)% 

Self Governance DHHS 
Revenues and transfers in (4) 61,876 58,112 3,764 6.5 % 
Expditures and transfers out (4) 63,428 58,726 4.7m 8.0 % 

Housing and Urban Development 
Revenues and transfers in (5) 24,692 27,705 (3,013) (1 0.9)% 
EvpendiO.res and transfers out (5) 24,692 27,705 (3,013) (10.9)% 

(1) Revenue increases for General Fund are primarily the result of increased dividends of 
$6.2 million from Cherokee Nation Enterprises, increases in tax and license revenues 
of $2.5 million and MS Indirect Cost Settlement for fiscal years 1994 through 1997 of 
$8.3 million. 

(2) General Fund expenditures and transfers out were more than FY2004, primarily due to 
increase in capital expenditures. There were also slight increases in salaries and fringe 
benefits, contract services, and general operating expenditures. The increase in 
contract services included expenditures for community work projects and an increased 
amount distributed from Motor Vehicle Tax to the schools and for highway 
construction. 

(3) Self Governance DO1 Roads program reflects a decrease in revenue and expenditures, 
due to the status of several road projects which are in the design, environmental and 
right-of-way phases which represent a very small percentage of the total cost of the 
road, and also due to the completion of several road projects in FY2004. 



(4) Self Governance DHHS revenue was more in M 2005 primarily due to increases in 
programmatic revenues received and increased third party revenues. Expenditures 
were more due to increases in salaries and fringe benefits. 

(5) Housing and Urban Development revenue and expenditure were less than FY2004 as a 
result of several small grants received in 2004, which were one time funding and the 
reduction of sub-grants to Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation ('HACK') 
reflected in the M P .  These sub-grants are used by HACN to provide affordable 
housing to citizens. 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

Net Assets 

As stated earlier, the government-wide financial statements are presented to give a broad 
overview of the government as a whole. Total assets for the Nation's governmental activities at 
fiscal year ending September 30, 2005 were $263 million. Of the $263 million, $41 million is 
related to investment in capital assets such as land, buildings, and equipment. Other assets, 
primarily cash, investments, and receivables, represent funds available to meet both current and 
future obligations of the Nation. 

Total liabilities of the Nation's governmental activities at fiscal year end were $143 million. Of 
this amount, approximately $36 million related to long-term obligations primarily to finance 
capital asset acquisitions. Other liabilities represent accounts payable and deferred grant revenue 
and other obligations generally due within one year of the financial statement date. 

The assets of the Nation's governmental activities exceeded liabilities at fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2005 by $119 million, which is stated as net assets. 

The Nation's business-type activities have total assets of $9.6 million at fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2005. Of the $9.6 million, $7 million is related to investment in capital assets 
such as land, buildings and equipment. The liabilities related to these activities at fiscal year end 
were $4.4 million. Of that amount, approximately $2 million related to long-term obligations 
primarily to finance capital asset acquisitions. Other liabilities represent accounts payable and 
other obligations generally due within one year of the financial statement date. The assets of the 
Nation's business-type activities exceeded liabilities at fiscal year ended September 30, 2005 by 
$5.2 million, which is stated as net assets. The following table presents the Nation's net assets 
for the primary government (in thousands): 



Cherokee Nation's Net Assets 
Governmental Business-Type 

Activities Activities Total 
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 

C u m t  and other assets f 221.803 S 209.107 $ 2.736 16 837 1 224.539 1 209.944 

Total assets 262,601 

. -. . . . . . -. - . 
Ca~ital assets 

Long-term debt outstanding 35,885 25,854 2,430 1,217 38,315 27,071 
Other liabilities 107,298 102,348 !,999 - 1,522 109,297 103,870 

Total liabilities 143,183 128,202 4,429 A 2 739 147,612 130,941 

Net assets invested in capital 
assets, net of related debt 35,969 29,403 5,519 4,388 41,488 33,791 

Restricted 16,822 20,691 16,822 20,691 
Unrestricted 66,627 65,566 (36!) (685) 66,266 64,881 

Total net assets $ 119,418 $ 115,660 % 5,158 1 3,703 - - S 124,576 $ 119,363 

For the primary government, $41 million of the net assets balance represents investment in 
capital assets, net of related debt. Restricted net assets represent external restrictions placed 
upon assets of the Nation. The largest category of restricted net assets is related to net assets 
restricted for specific program purposes. Of the total net assets, 366 million is reported as 
unrestricted net assets. The unrestricted ne! assets represent anlounts available for future 
services for the Nation's citizens, obligations, and creditors. 

At September 30,2005, the Nation reported positive net assets for the government as a whole, as 
well as for its separate govemental and business-me activities. 

Changes in Net Assets 

The Nation's net assets increased by $5 million or 4% during the course of the year. Total 
revenues for fiscal year ended September 30, 2005 were $212 million. Total expenses of the 
Nation were $207 million, which cover a variety of services. Approximately 38% of the total 
expenses were for health care for Tribal members. In total, governmental-type revenue exceeded 
expenses by $3.8 million resulting in an increase in net assets. Tribal Government expenses 
increased by $3 million as a result of increased revenues which allowed for funding of new 
initiatives. Health expenses increased by $4 million which were mainly attributable to contract 
health services. Net revenues for business-type activities exceeded expenses by $1.5 million. 
The changes in net assets during 2005 are as follows (in thousands): 



Cherokee Nation's Changes in Net Assets 
Governmental Business-Type 

Activities Activities Total 
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 

Revenues: 
Program revenues: 

Charpa for services 6 2,001 $ 1,237 $ 3,192 16 3,045 $ 5,193 $ 4,282 
Operating grants and 

conhibutions 
Genaal revenues: 
Motor fuel tax 

Motor vehicle tax 
Tobacu, tax and fees 
Sales tax 
Umhictcd invesrment earnings 
Indimt Cost S d m e n t  
Dividends h m  Component UmD 
Grans and mntributions not 
resticted to spcific programs 

Miscelianmus 
w i l y  interest in joint venhlrc 
Gain/Ooss) on disposals 

Total m u e s  

Expenses: 
Tribal go-t 17,GZ3 13,627 17,023 13,627 
Health Services 79,344 74,995 79,344 74,995 
Education Services 33,429 32,901 33,429 32,901 
Human Services 24,824 24,160 24,824 24,160 
CommuniN Services 35.050 35.163 35.050 35.163 
Other Tribal Savices 10,623 11,193 10,623 11,193 
Interm an long-term debt 1,651 - 970 1,651 970 - 

Total governmental expenses 201,954 A 193 009 - - 201,954 193,009 

Tsa-La-Gi Village Apamenu 352 356 352 356 
Chemkee Tnils GoUClub 39 39 
Landfill Opmtions 2,252 1,917 2,252 1,917 
EDTA 127 127 
Childhood Development Centen 1,048 1235 1,048 1,235 
Other Enterprises - - 15 - 6 - 6 15 - 

Total business-rn evenses 3,794 - 3,553 - 3,794 - 3,553 - 
Tola1 eqmses 201,954 193.009 - 3,794 a - 205,748 196 562 

Increase in net assets before transfers 6,647 15,990 (446) (6 14) 6,201 15,376 
Transfers (2,889) 150 2 - 0 -  
Cnange in net asses 3,758 16,140 1,455 064) 5213 15,376 

Net asse-eginning of year 115,660, 99 520 - 3,703 119363 103,987 
N a  assns-End of year $119,418 16115,660 5,158 a 3119,363 - 

As indicated earlier in this report, the increase in net assets in 2005 is largely attributable to the 
dividends from component units, increases in motor hels taxes and increases in motor vehicle 

I 
taxes. I 



CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

The Nation's capital assets, net of depreciation, at the end of fiscal year 2005 were $48 million. 
The Nation has no public domain (infrastructure) fixed assets. The following table presents 
details of the Nation's capital assets, net of depreciation (in thousands): 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Total 

Land $ 9,913 $ 8 1 $ 9,994 
Construction in process $ 5,350 $ 5,350 
Buildings and improvements 18,632 6,050 24,682 
Equipment 6,881 720 7,601 

Land improvements 22 - 22 

Total capital assets $ 40,798 $ 6,851 $ 47,649 

Additional information on the Nation's capital assets can be found in Note 8 on pages 55 - 57 of 
this report. 

The Nation's long-term debt at the end of fiscal year 2005 was approximately $38 million, 
primarily related to investments in capital assets and Title VI loan proceeds. The following is a 
summary of long-term debt at September 30,2005 (in thousands): 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Total 

Notes payable $ 35,446 $ 2,430 $ 37,876 
Capital leases payable 439 - 439 

Total long-term debt $ 35,885 $ 2,430 S 38,315 

The Nation, as a tribal government, has the ability to incur debt, similar to state and local 
governments. The Nation has entered into an agreement for up to $50 million with Bank One, 
guaranteed by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development's Title VI 
program. The purpose of the credit facility is to loan money to the HACN who, in turn, will use 
the money in the building of affordable housing for sale to eligible Tribal members. As of 
September 30, 2005, borrowings under this credit facility totaled approximately $31 million. 
Additional information on the Nation's long-term debt can be found in Note 9 on pages 58 - 63 
of this report. 



SIGNIFICANT BUDGET VARIATIONS 

The Nation's significant General Fund budget variations in 2005 were as follows (in thousands): 

Variance Percentage Variance Percentage 
Original Final Increase1 Increase1 Increase! Increase1 
Budget Budget (Decrease) (Decrease) Actual (Decrease) (Decrease) 

Revenues: 
Taxes, licenses, and f a  S 8,544 16 8,941 S 397 (I) 5 %  S 11,741 0) 6 2,800 31 % 
Interest 45 45 0 % 1,046 0) 1,001 2224 % 
Indirect cost senlem~lt 0 %  8,314 (4) 8,314 I00 % 
Dividends from component uniU 12,900 18,450 5,550 (5) 43 % 17,919 (531) (3% 

Expmdilures: 
Mbal Govanmml 11,269 12,952 1,683 (6) I % 10,400 (7) (2,552) (20)% 
Mcmba S m i m  18,407 28,333 9,926 (8) 54 % 17,839 (9) (10,494) (37)% 
Capifal outlay 251 5,268 5,017 (10) 1999 % 8.188 (11) 2,920 55 % 

Otha sources/(uses): 
Transfm, net (10,198) (12.912) (2,714) (12) 27 % 2.795 (13) 15,707 (1 22)% 

(1) Increases in budgeted revenue were primarily the result of increases in revenues received 
by the Gaming Commission and from CNE. 

(2) Actual revenue was more than budget mainly due to increases in revenue from MVT and 
tobacco tax. 

(3) Actual interest income was higher than budgeted primarily due to rebounding interest rates 
for investments. 

(4) The IHS Indirect Cost Settlement was not budgeted due to uncertainties surrounding actual 
date that funds would be available for appropriation. 

(5) Increases in dividends from component units in the Final Budget are a result of increased 
profits at CNE. 

(6)  Increases in budgeted expenditures in the Final Budget are the result of increased revenue 
projections, primarily from increased dividends from component units and canyover from 
prior year. 

(7) Expenditures for Tribal Government were approximately $2 million less than budget, 
primarily due to decreases in contract services and operating expenditures. 

(8) Increases in budgeted expenditures in the Final Budget are the result of increased revenue 
projections, primarily from increased dividends from component units and canyover from 
prior year in Community Services, Education Services and Health Services. 

(9) Expenditures for Member Services were less than budget, primarily due to some projects 
being implemented for a partial year with carryover being requested and others related to 
decreases in contract services and operating expenditures. 

(10)The increase in the capital outlay final budget is primarily due to additions for land 
purchases utilizing settlement funds. 

(1 1) Capital outlays exceeded budget due to tribal construction in process. 



(12) Increases in budgeted transfers, net were the result of increased revenues available. 

(13)Net transfers were more than budget, primarily due to budgeted, but unspent, funds for 
Health Facilities and Sequoyah High School construction projects. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET 

The Nation is currently in the process of several major projects, which will influence the future 
of the Nation. The Health Services facilities are under construction in Nowata, Sallisaw and 
Muskogee. The Education Services group is coordinating construction on the Sequoyah High 
School Multi-purpose Center and a new Ballpark for its students and surrounding communities. 
Community Services will continue to provide affordable housing for Tribal members. 

Budgeted expenditures and transfers for the Nation's General Fund for fiscal year 2006 total $69 
million, a decrease of $7 million from the final amounts budgeted for fiscal year 2005. 

Cherokee Nation Enterprises ("CNE) gaming activities competition for gaming customers 
continues to increase in Northeastern Oklahoma as other tribes continue to expand operations, 
however customers demand remain strong. CNE continues to look at expanding existing 
facilities and adding new ones to take advantage of market opportunities. Construction is 
underway on facilities at Sallisaw, Oklahoma and Tahlequah, Oklahoma. ChTE also purchased a 
travel plaza located adjacent to the Roland facility. The existing structure has been razed and 
construction on a new travel plaza is expected to be completed in 2006. In addition construction 
has begun on a remodel of the existing Roland facility which is expected to be completed in 
2006. 

CONTACTING TIIE NATION'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Nation's finances to its 
citizens, customers, creditors, and other interested parties. Questions concerning any of the 
information contained in this report or requests for additional financial information should be 
directed to the Nation's Controller's Office, Post Office Box 809, Tahlequah, Oklahoma, 74465. 
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CHEROKEE NATION 

STATEMENT OPNET ASSETS 
SEPTEMBER 30,2005 
(Dollars lo Tbous.a&) 

Primary Government 

Ga~ernmental Businer-type 
Activities Activities Total 

Assets 
Cash and saah qnivalmts $ 73,805 $ 1,968 S 75.773 

Iwcsbncnts 62,393 11 62,404 

A m &  xceivable. nd 20.883 356 21,239 
1otacrt'"Ceivablc 
M a t g a p  rcceivablc, TiIlc VI and partnuships, cvrrmt 
Due f m m a h a  funds - Intrmal Balances 2,807 (2,807) 
D"c rmpri"mq govcmmmt 
Duc fmm mmp-t uoita 1,292 1292 
Inventories 816 816 
Repaid expen- 
Notes mcivablc 1.863 1 SO 2,013 
Defend incomc tancs 

0 t h ~  a r m [  B F B ~  803 2 805 
Rcariacd 4, cash equivalents and investments 27,607 1,804 29.41 1 
Long-tmnnnes rcscimblc 29,202 1,252 30.454 
Long-tammmlgages nccivablc, TiUc VI and partnerships 

0 t h ~  eascts 
Invcstmmt in joint vmhxm/panncrships 332 332 
Capital wets, n m  deprcdsblc 15,263 81 15.344 
Capital esseb, dcprsciabie, net 25,535 6,770 32,305 

Total eas~ta 262,601 9,587 272,188 

Llmbilitics 
Dutdanding checks in cxses ofbe& balance 
A-unts paysbls and a w e d  liabilities 
Line of credit 
Ckrmt pmim oflmg-tmn deb! 
Ckrmt portico orcapita1 leases 
Duc to primmy gwcmmcnt 
Due lo -mentunits 
Canpcnsatd absences 
me, -1 liabilities 
Un-cd m m e  

Un-d g,ml nuenuc 
h g - t m o  debt 
Trust liabilities 

Capital lwer  payable 
Defsnd i n m c  taxes 
0th- l , ~ ~ e n t  liabilities 
Miority intcnst 

Total iiabiliter 

Net &I=U 

Invested in eapilelsset~, net ofrclalcd dcbt 
Rcstxidcd for 

Motcr vehicle tax 
Pcrmanml Funds - orpmdablc 

Pwnancnt Funds - noncqcndablc 
Judmmt funds - nmanqmdabie 
consmdion 
Arliansas IlivcrLhybsdLanda SctUcmslr 

Debt savisc 
Invcrtmmt in ~ c r s h i p ! j o i n t  -ma 
Program ==ices 

 total*^ esarsM 

See notes to basic finanical statements 



CREROKEP, NATION 

STATEMENT 0~ACl lVlTlE. I  
PORTlIEYP*R ETDEDSEPTSMBR30.200S 

NO, (E.p.m.r) Re"."". rnd 
Pqrarn  R . r a n M  Changs In Ne1Ass.h 

op.r.ans Capllal 
Chwg.3for armband Grsnhancl Oor.mrn.nll Bwln-.We Component 

Eloenses SsNC.s CmUlbuSnu Conbibu6- Total Unlk erE*lll- n E l 4 l l a  - 

T~lgar.mmlal*cnvitles tOl.PY 2,Wl IDI,I7l 

Burinlar-meadivltir 
Tm-Is-Oi ApUhnenh 352 475 

L d f i l l  Gpr"liaa Y.252 I 3 7  
EDTA 121 I4 1Cd 
Child h k p n x n t  1.048 766 
othrr sntnptisrs I5 

Tot11 bushem-+ aadivitiu 2 3,191 1M 

Tat81 primuy gauunmmnt S 205,748 S 5,191 S 106,382 S - - 
C-p""L""iU; 

A o w i n g A u U r m ~ o f t h c 0 m h N ~ t l m ~ A n r )  1 37,735 S 13.478 S 19,956 S 
ChlrokeeN8llan WlamduInc. W P ' )  227,378 275.590 

CbrraeNaIim h M a  lac ("131") 8 ~ 7 7 ~  83.184 
Cherokee Nation Euinwa,  101. rCNE?) IZOI 
ChchchkceNatian Home HcalB ScMcu. Inc. rCNHHS7- ~ 5 1 1  

T&~comnonmluniC 1349,607 1 374.965 1 19.956 1 - 
(imlRIReueMU: 

Mot0 llwl lu 
MotarveMcle h% 

Tehma tax 
% l a  tax 
Ormt. md mbM(om not mmmlod to 3pcUlc pm- 

.Umahirlad lnuamnl I&@ 

DtuhL fmnc.=wwalrmil 
Murcuanananvmm 
Bqullyinluut hjoinlvcmturr 
OlsOom) cndtvasb 

Debtlagiv- 
mnlhn 

Tdsl m m l m -  delAlargivrn~ u d k m f c ~ s  

c h m i n n d r a r t r  

Net m* brgsnng. u relaled fm mmpwJ mi% (nNe 19) 

N.1 i s e t a ,  rndlng 

Sea no,- lo basis finarx;ia, a,a,ernen,s 
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CHEROKEE NATION 
BALANCESHEET - GOVERNMENTALREWS 
SEPTEMBER 30,2005 
O)ollnrr in Thousands) 

ASSETS 

CPlb and catb cquivalmu S 20,036 
IavemnmU 666 
Rncinblu ,  net 2,839 
Doc 6om olhn  fan& 17,089 
Due ~mmmponmi rmi r r  1,250 
lnvmloriu 
Noes ICES~VP~IC 
O t b c ~ c ~ l  lssm 70 
Rerhctd  sash, sash quivalmts and inwtmcm 26,044 

Tol l  s s m  S 67,994 - 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 

L w n m  
Accovo~psyrble and acmrcd Liabilities 
Due lo olhu  hm& 
Duc m mmponmtunitr 
Olhucurrmt liabilititi 
Dcfemd ~ t r o r c n u c  
Dcfrn~cfd rcvmoc 

Tol l  lirbilitia 

v7 BALANCES: 
, i f  b lmsc:  

ncrwcd by Lcgislntivc AcC(Noa 12): 
Motor fuel tu; 
1ndircct SOL I C ~ c m ~ l  
CIsb r u m  
Sqnoyah High Scbaol 
Arhnsu Rivsrbsd scItlemmvlitig8tion 
Tnbnl judgemenu and msts 

Rcrwcd by cxemd romw: 
Grvltpm- 
Motor vehicle br 
Pmnnnmt funds 
Iud-t funds 

Unrescnrcd (Noe 12) 

Tom1 fund balances 

Totrl liabilities and fund halmccr 

Ssc a m  to buic haocirl  rllcmcotr 

Amounts repond far govcmmmtsl acfivititi in lhc strlsmmt of 
ncrassetr nrs diffcrmt bscaw: 

Capital assets, net of accvmulntcd dcprcciation, uasd in 
govcmmcntsl nctivitiu m n o t  bancia1 resources a d  
therefore arenot icpond in lhc funds. 28,511 

Assm rscardcdin govunmml.wide filland4 r11Tcmmts 
lhzt ucn~tavailabb mpry for curm~pcriod cxpmdi-, 
tbcrsfors, ucnotrccordcd in lhc funds. 9,741 

I n m d  scmiccfunds are used by m n g m m t  m charge tbe 
coitr efc& ndvitiuto individual h&. The assets and 
liabilities, inclndiag bonds pryablc, of tbe inma1 8 a m i c  funds 
arc included in the ~ovcmmmt.1 activities in tbc S t a m m l a f  1,687 
N.1 Assets. 

Liabilities not duc andpayablc in tbr rvrrmt psriod (1,761) 
nnd Lcrcforcoot reported in lhc funds. 



CHEROKEE NATION 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES I N  FUND BALANCES - 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
FOR THEWCAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2005 
(Dollam in Tbourandr) 

Self Self Hourine & Other Told - 
Goveroaoce Governnoce Urban Gavernmlntll Governmental 

Generll DO1 Roads DHHS Development Funds Ponds 

Revenuer: 
httrgowmmental 
RopertY rentalr 
Momr fuel llxrevrnuer 
Tax and license revenues 
IOrrrelf 

T m  fund incomc 
lodirect cost rcttlemmt 
Dividends fmm component vniu 
Other 

Total 15-"s 

E x p m d i ~ r :  
Currull openling: 

Tdbal G o v m r n t  
Health Services 
Education Senices 
Human Services 
Community Services 
Other misl  rnviccr 

Debt services: 
Ftincipal 
htncst  

Capihl ouUay 
Total 0rpmdiLmes 

Excnr (deficiency) ofrevenuer over cxpcndirwrr 

Omer rmmcing sources (uses): 
lrlULnce of long-term dsbt 
Transfers in 
Tmrferr out 

Total other financing s a w  (ues) 

Net change in fund balancer 14,954 (1.552) 1.876 15.278 

Fund balance, Oclok 1,2004 44,013 583 6,856 14.516 65.968 

Fund ba lmw September 30. 2005 $58,967 S 583 1 5,304 $ 5 16,392 1 81,246 ----- 

See nates to basic AnanQal statements 



CHEROKEE NATION 

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2005 

(Dollars in Thousands) 

Amounts reported for govemmental activities in the statement of activities are different because: 

Net change in fund balances - total govemmental funds 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the 
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated 
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which 
capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period. 

Revenue derived from the increase in equity resulting kom the joint venture's net 
income is not considered a current financial resource and is thus not recorded in the 
fund statements. 

Revenues previously reported in the statement of activities that did not provide 
current fmancial resources were not previously reported as revenues in the funds. 
These revenues are now presented in the fund statements as they become available. 

The issuance of long-tenn debt provides current fmancial resources to 
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt 
consumes the current financial resources of govemmental funds. Neither 
transaction, however, has any effect onnet assets. Also, govemmental funds 
report the effect of issuance costs, premium?, discounts, and similar items when 
debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the 
Statement of Activities. This amount is the net effect of these differences in the 
treafment of long-tenn debt and related items. 

Some expenses are reported in the Statement of Activities 
when incurred and presented in the governmental funds when paid. 

The internal senice funds are used to account for those activities which provide 
services to other functions within the government. These costs are allocated to 
the govemmental funds in the government- wide financial statements. This 
amount is the net effect of the allocations. 

Change in net assets of govemmental activities 

See notes to basic financial statements 



CHEROKEE NATION 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (GAAP BASIS) - GENERAL FUND 
FOR T E E  YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2005 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 
Final Budget 

Revenues: 
Property rentals 
Motor fuel tax 

Taxes, licenses, and fees 
Interest 
Tmst fund income 
Indirect cost settlement 
Dividends &m component units 
Other 

Total revenues 

Expenditures: 
Tribal government 
Member services 
Capital outlay 
Debt service 

Total expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 

)tiler fmancing sources (uses): 
Transfers in 
Transfers out 

Total other fmancing sources (uses) 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other fmancing sources 
over expenditures 

Fund balance, October 1,2004 

Fund balance, September 30,2005 

Original Final Actual over/(under) 

See notes to basic financial statements 



CHEROKEE NATION 
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS -PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
SEPTEMBER 30,2005 
po l la r s  in Thousands) 

Business-type Activities- 
Enterprise Funds 

Nonmajor 
Enterprise 

Funds Totals 

ASSETS ' 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,968 S 1,968 
Investments 11 I I 
Accounts receivable, net 356 356 
Due from other fwds 14 14 
Due horn component units 
Inventories 
Notes receivable, current 150 150 . 
Other current assets 2 2 

Total current assets 2,501 2,501 

Noncurrent assets: 
Res~c ted  cash and cash equivalents 1,804 1,804 
Long-term notes receivable ' 1,252 1,252 
Capital assets, net 6,851 6,851 

Total noncurrent assets 9,907 9,907 

Total assets 12,408 12,408 

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 46 46 
Current portion of long-term debt 485 485 
Current portion of capital leases 
Due to other funds 2,821 2,821 
Compensated absences 
Other current liabilities 16 16 

Total current liabilities 3,368 3,368 

Noncurrent liabilities: 
Unearned revenue 300 300 
Long-term debt 1,945 1,945 
Capital leases payable 
Other liabilities 1,604 1,604 

Total noncurrent liabilities 3,849 3,849 

Total liabilities 7,217 7,217 

NET ASSETS 
Invested in capital assets, net ofrelated debt 5,519 5,519 
Restricted 
Unrestricted net assetsl(de6cit) (328) (328) 

Total net assets 16 5,191 5,191 

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of Internal Senice Funds activities related to Enterprise Funds (33) 
Net assets of business-type activities $ 5,158 

See notes to basic financial statements 

Governmental 
Activities- 
Internal 

Service Funds 



CHEROKEE NATION 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CaANGES I N  mTII'D NET ASSETS - PROPRlETARY FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2005 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Business-type Activities. 

Operating revenues: 
Properly rentals 
Charges for services and goods 
Other 

Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses: 
Cost of sales 
Salaries and wages 
Other services and charges 
Materials and supplies 
Depreciation and amortization 

Total operating expenses 

Enterprise Funds 
Nonmajor 
Enterprise 

Funds Totals 

Operating income (loss) (480) (480) 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 
Interest income 
Interest expense 
Gain/(loss) on sale of capital assets 

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Income (loss) before wansfers (416) (416) 

Transfers in 
Transfers out 

Change in net assets 1,485 1,485 

Total net assets - beginning 

Total net assets - ending 

Adjushllent to reflect the wnsolidation of Internal Service Funds activities related to Enterprise Funds (30) 

Change in net assets of business-type activities $ 1,455 

See notes to basic financial statements 

Governmental 
Activities- 
Internal 

Service Funds 



CHEROKEE NATION 

STATEMENT O F  CASH FLOWS -PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2005 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Receipts from customers 
Payments to suppliers 
Payments to employees 
Internal activity,net - payments (to)/from other funds 
Other receipts 

Net cash provided/(used) by operating activities 

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities 
Operating subsidies and transfers (to)/from other funds 
Equity transfer 

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities 
Purchases of capital assets 
Proceeds from capital debt 
Principal paid on capital debt 
Interest paid on capital debt 
Proceeds from sales of capital assets 

Net cash (used) by capital and related 
financing activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest and dividends 

Net cash provided by investing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, October 1,2004 

Cash and cash equivalents, September 30,2005 

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided 
(used) by operating activities: 

Operating income (loss) 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 

provided (used) by operating activities: 
Depreciation expense 

Change in assets and liabilities: 
Receivables, net 
Inventories 
Other current assets 
Accounts and other payables 

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 

See notes to basic financial statements 

Business-type Activities- 
Enterprise Funds 

Nonmajor 
Enterprise 

Funds Total 

Governmental 
Activities- 
Internal 

Service Funds 



CHEROKEE NATION 

COMBlMNC STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS- COMPONENT UhTTS 
SEPTEMBER30,2005 (JUNE 30,2005 for C W  
(Dallrrr in Thounnds) 

Cherokee 
Nation 

Entcrpriwr 
b e  

(CNE) 

Cherokee 
Nation 

AomrHeallb 

Housing 
Aothorily 

of tho Cherokee 
Nation 

(HACM 
ASSETS 

Currcot we'? 

Cash md cash c q u i ~ l m s  
Raec t ed  cnsb 
lnvcsmmts 
Rcceirnblw, ncr 
intcmf recciecciabl~ 
Mongaga rcscivablc-Title W 
Due fmm primary govcmmmt 
lnvmtorics 
Prepaid Expmrcr 
No= rcccivabls 
Defmcd income taxes 
Invcsmcnt Bparmmbip 
Olher C-t .$sets 

Toui cmmt irsnr 

Rcrectcd invrrhncnu 
No= ~cccivablc 
Mangaga rrcciv&bls-Title VI uld parmerrhipr 
Other u s e l l  
lnvcrhncnt in pumcnbipdjoint m m c o  

Capiu1 asses, net 

Total asrcs 

1 . i A B l L 1 r n  

Cunml iinbilidc~: 
Outsmding check in ex- o f b d  balance 
AccovnU payable a d  accrued lirbilidcn 
Line of credit 
Cvrrmtportim of long-tcn deb1 
aurrn,po"ifion of upiui  l a s s  
Dua lo primary govmuncnt 
Duc u, Chsrokcs Nation Eompirer 
Dcfmcd nvmue 
Olbcr m m t  liabilities 

Tobl - a t  lisbilitiss 

Loog-trrm &bt 
Tmst Liabilities 
D d d  inmme tues 
Minoriry lat- 

Tom1 lirbititia 

NET ASSETS 
Invwwd in upitrl rrres, on of~clrwddebl 
Rrrtrimd for 

Dcbtsmicc 
l o v a m w t  in p u m n r b i p l j o b t ~ ~ ~ ~ s  
P m w m  rmiccr 

Unmtricwd nst asrcM(dmsit) 

See notes to basic financial statements 



CHEROKEE NATION 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CBANGES I N  FUND NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) - 
COMPONENT UNITS 
FOR TAE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2005 (Year ended June 30,2005 for CM) 
@ollan io Thousands) 

Housing Cherokee Cherokee Cherokee Cherokee 
Authority Nation Nation Nation Nation 

of the Cherokee Enterprises Industries Business- AomeHulth 
Nation Ine. I n e  Inr Services, Itlc. 

W c N )  (clur) (CNB) (CNRRS) Total 
Operating revenues: 

Charges for services and goads $ 13,478 $ 275,590 S 83,384 $ - % 2,513 16 374,965 
Other 275 590 I 866 

Total operating revenues 13,753 276,180 83,384 2,514 375,831 

Operating expenses: 
Cost of saledoperations 19,604 69,812 45,362 134,778 
Equity interests in Invesments 915 915 
Salaries and wager 5,947 82,223 29,690 196 1,801 119,857 
Housing asristmce 4,693 4,693 
Other services and charges 904 40,050 4,297 603 45,854 
Depreciation and amonization 5,213 14,777 295 I1 20,296 

Total operating expenses 36,361 206,862 79,644 1.1 11 2,4 15 326,393 

Operating income (loss) (22,608) 69,318 3,740 (1,111) 99 49,438 

Nottoperating revenues (expenses) 
Grant revenue 19,956 19,956 
lnterestiinvesment income 1,351 429 4 189 2 1,975 
Interest enpenre (1,374) (326) (456) (190) (3) (2,349) 
Canoibulions fmm Cherokee Nation 200 200 
Allowance for uncollectlble accounts (1,100) (1,100) 
Debt forgiveness 5,403 5,403 
Gaid(1oss) on disposal of assets 679 (8) 67 1 
Other, net 289 289 

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 20,612 (1,005) 5,240 199 (1) 25,045 

lnwme (loss) before income taxes (1,996) 68,313 8,980 (912) 98 74,483 
Income tax benefit (expense) (727) (727) 
Loss amibutable 10 minority interest 52 52 

Net Inwme (lass) (1,996) 68,313 8,305 (912) 98 73,808 
Dividends to primary government (19,090) (19,090) 

Change in net assets (1,996) 49,223 8,305 (912) 98 54,718. 

,cr assets, beginning of year, as restated for HACN (Note 19) 111,817 101,576 4,856 (129) 338 218,458 

Net assets (deficit), end of year $ 109,821 $ 150,799 $ 13,161 $ (1,041) $ 436 $ 273,176 

See notes to basic financial statements 
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CHEROKEE NATION 
NOTES T O  THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2005. 

1. SUI\II\IARY O F  SIGhmICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The basic financial statements of the Cherokee Nation (the "Nation") have been prepared in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") as applied to government 
units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. With respect to proprietary 
activities, including component units, the Nation has adopted GASB Statement No.  20, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other Government Entities That Use Proprietary Fund 
Accounting. The Nation has elected to apply all applicable GASB pronouncements, as well as Financial 
Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") pronouncements and Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinions 
issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless those pronouncements conflict with, or contradict, GASB 
pronouncements. 

Reporting Entity-The Nation is a tribal organization with Executive, Legislative, and Judicial Branches. 
The bas~c financial statements of the Nation present the reporting entity, which consists of the primary 
govemment, organizations for which the primary govemment is financially accountable, and other 
organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government are such 
that exclusion could cause the Nation's basic financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 
Accordingly, the accompanying basic financial statements reflect the financial position and the operations of 
the Cherokee Nation received, disbursed, or in the custody of the Nation or the Bureau of Indian Affairs 
("BIA") and the United States Treasury, as its trustee, as well as all other funds and activities over which the 
Nation exercises financial accountability. The Nation's basic financial statements do not include the financial 
position or activities of various federal and state governmental agencies operating within tribal lands. The 
Nation determines its financial reporting entity in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board Statement No. 14, "The Financial Reporting Entity," and based on that criterion, has included the 
following entities as component units within the Nation's basic financial statements: 

Discretely Presented Component Units-The component units' columns in the government-wide financial 
statements includes the financial data of the Nation's discretely presented component units. These discretely 
presented component units are reported in a separate column to emphasize that they are legally separate from 
the primary government. The following component units are included in the reporting entity because the 
primary government is financially accountable for and is able to impose its will on these organizations. 

Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma-The Housing Authority of the 
Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma ("HACN") was created under the provisions of the laws of the State of 
Oklahoma and provides affordable housing and other services to low income Native Americans 
within the boundaries of the Nation. Effective October 1, 1997, the Native American Housing 
Assistance and Self-Determination Act ('WAHASDA") was implemented. The purpose of 
NAHASDA is to provide Federal assistance for Indian tribes in a manner that recognizes the right of 
Indian self-determination and tribal self governance. The Commissioners of the Housing Authority 
are nominated by the Principal Chief and confirmed by the Council of the Cherokee Nation. in 
September 2000, the Tribal Council of the Nation approved a legislative act that resulted in the 
Nation becoming the direct recipient of Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HIJD") 
funds formerly received directly by the HACN. Concurrent with this legislativeact, the Nation and 
the HACN entered into a memorandum of understanding ("MOU") whereby the Nation agreed to 
pass through to the HACN a significant portion of the NWASDA grant funds received by the Nation 



from HUD. Under the MOIJ, the Nation is responsible for oversight and compliance of the funds 
passed through to the HACN. As a result, HACN is cons~dered to be a component unit of the Nation. 

I 
I 

Cherokee Nation Enterprises, Inc.--Cherokee Nation Enterprises, Inc. ("CNE) is a tribal 
corporation of the Nation, which operates gaming facilities, a hotel, restaurants, smokeshops, 

I 

convenience stores, golf courses, giftshops, and a horse racing facility. The Nation established CNE, 
and while not directly managing the daily operations, is able to exert significant influence over CNE's 
activities as a result of its relationship with CNE. CNE is managed through a board of directors 
nominated by the Principal Chief of the Nation and approved by the Tribal Council. 

CNE's gaming operations are regulated by the Cherokee Nation Gaming Commission, an arm of the 
Nation that has statutory oversight over gaming activity conducted by CNE. During 2005, CNE paid 
$1,140,000 to the Nation to cover costs associated with the Cherokee Nation Gaming Commission's 
oversight responsibilities. CNE collects a tribal tax on food and beverage, tobacco, merchandise, and 
other retail sales which is remitted to the Cherokee Nation Tax Commission. CNE remitted 
approximately $715,000 to the Cherokee Nation Tax Commission for fiscal year 2005. 

In November, 2004, Oklahoma voters approved State Question 712 allowing for expanded gaming 
offerings at CNE, upon negotiation and approval of a gaming compact between the Nation and the 
State. The gaming compact was signed November 16, 2004. CNE offers an expanded selection of 
electronic games, as well as non-house banked card games at its facilities on tribal lands as a result of 
the compact. The gaming compact requires CNE to pay a fee on selected electronic games and non- 
house banked card games to the state. CNE began card operations in.Januaxy 2005. The payments to 
the State for FY2005 for such fees were $2,004,746. 

Will Rogers Downs, LLC ("MRD") is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the 
Cherokee Nation created to own and operate a horse racing facility in Claremore, Oklahoma. CNE is 
the sole member owning 100% of the units of WRD. WRD was created on April 23, 2004. The 
president of CNE is the designated manager of WRD. Based on the foregoing criteria and in 
compliance with the provisions of GASB No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, WRD is included 
as a blended component unit in CNE's financial statements. WRD is subject to oversight by the 
Oklahoma Horse Racing Commission ("OHRC"). As a result of the gaming compact with the state of 
Oklahoma, WRD has installed electronic gaming devices and operates as a Racino. WRD's 
operations consist of electronic gaming and live simulcasts; and are approved by the OHRC for live 
racing. WRD opened for business on December 9, 2005, and prior to that time had limited operating 
activities. 

Rolling Hills Catering, LLC ("RHC") i s  a limited liability company organized under the laws of the 
Cherokee Nation created to serve as a separate legal entity from which to provide food and beverage 
services to Cherokee Casino Hotel and Resort. CNE is the sole member owning 100% of the units of 
RHC. RHC was created on April 28, 2004. The president of CNE is the designated manager of 
RHC. Based on the foregoing criteria and in compliance with the provisions of GASB No. 14, The 
Financial Reporling Entity, RHC is included as a blended component unit m CNE's financial 
statements. RHC had no operating activities in 2005. 

Cherokee Nation Industries, Inc., CND, LLC, and Cherokee Medical Services, L.L.C. 
(collectively "Ch7")-The Nation established CNI, and while not directly managing the daily 
operations, is able to exert significant influence over CNI's activities as a result of its relationship to 
CNI and appointment of a majority of CNI's board members. Although legally separate eatities, this 
group of companies operates under the same management team and board of directors and issues 
combined financial statements. CNI engages primarily in the production, assembly, and repair of 



electronic component parts and wiring systems, and the provisions of certain contract medical 
services for the U.S. Government. The separately issued combined financial statements of CNi are 
prepared in accordance with accounting principles promulgated by the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board. The financial statements of CNI included in this report have been reclassified, as 
necessary, to conform to GASB principles. All information included in the Nation's financial 
statements for CNI is for the fiscal period ended June 30,2005. 

Cherokee Nation ~usiness; Inc.-Cherokee Nation Business, Inc. ("CNB"), a tribal corporation, 
was created June 16, 2004, to provideshared services and strategic coordination to the Nation's 
business entities and to diversify the Nation's business holdings and act as a holding co~poration for 
certain Nation investments in business enterprises. The Nation created CNB and is able to exert 
significant influence over CNB's activities as a result of its relationship to CNB and board member 
appointments. 

CNB owns 100% of Cherokee Technologies, LLC ("CT"), which is a limited liability company 
organized June 16, 2004 under the laws of the Nation and accounts for CT as a blended component 
unit. Cherokee Connex, LLC ("Connex") was organized June 18, 2004 for the purpose of providing 
wireless internet services in the Tulsa market and surrounding rural areas. Connex is 51% owned by 
CT and 49% by other investors and is accounted for uslng the equity method. Connex is a 
development stage enterprise. 

Cherokee CRC, LLC ("CCRC") is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the state of 
Oklahoma. CCRC is an environmental services company, formed April 27, 2005. CNB owns 51% 
of CCRC and accounts for CCRC uslng the equity method. CCRC received 8(a) certification from 
the U.S. Small Business Admimstration on July 28,2005. 

The Cherokee Nation passed the "Jobs Growth Act" in Novembm 2005, which authorizes the 
Principal Chief to execute the necessary documents to transfer ownership of substantially all wholly 
owned Cherokee companies such as, Cherokee Nation Enterprises and Cherokee Nation Industries to 
CNB. More information on the Jobs Growth Act is covered in Note 18. 

Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc.-Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc. 
("CNHHS"), a tribal corporation, was organized for the purpose of engaging in the home healthcare 
services. The Nation created CNHHS and is able to exert significant influence over CNHHS' 
activities as a result of its relationship with CNHHS and board member appointments. 

The financial statements for the discretely presented proprietary component units are presented as part of the 
accompanying basic financial statements. All discretely presented component units are presented as major 
funds. Selected disclosures for the discretely presented component units have been included in these notes to 
the basic financial statements. Separately issued audited financial statements with additional disclosures may 
be obtained for each of the above component units 6om the Cherokee Nation Controller's office. 

Blended Component Units - A component unit whose operations are intertwined with those of the primaqr 
government are blended with the financial data of the primary government. There is no distinction between 
the data of the primary govemment and that of the component unit. The Nation's blended component unik are 
as follows: 

Cherokee Nation Economic Development Trust Authority - The Economic Development Trust 
Authority ("EDTA"), a Community Development Financial institution, is certified by the U.S. 
Treasury Department. Cherokee Nation EDTA was created by Tribal Council Legislative Act 56-89 
as a mechanism to promote economic development. Its mission is to provide opporkmities for 



I income generation through economic development, to provide loans for business creatiodexpansion, 
and to provide loans to qualified individuals whom have traditionally been denied through 
conventional lending sources. EDTA was previously presented as a special revenue fund, however 
beginning in FY2005 it is presented as a proprietary fund in the accompanying financial statements. I 
Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care Agency - The Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care 
Agency, ("Agency") was established on January 29, 2004. The agency was created to facilitate 
various Nation health care initiatives including the facilitation of joint ventures and other business 
related health activities. The Agency and the Tahlequah City Hospital entered into a joint venture on 
September 28, 2004, to create Cherokee Health Partners, LLC which is 51% owned by the Nation. 
Cherokee Health Partners, LLC is an imaging center located in the Tahlequah City Hospital. The 
initial services to be provided are nuclear scans of the bones, heart, and lungs. The Nation has made 
an initial investment in Cherokee Health Partners, LLC in the amount of'$148,000. For FY2005, the 
Nation recorded an increase in equity of $184,000 resulting from the joint venture's net income for 
the year. The joint venture is recorded as an asset at the government-wide level; however it is not 
recorded at the fund level because it does not represent a currently available financial resource. 

Excluded Organizations-During 2005, the following organizations did not meet the crileria foi inclusion in 
the reporting entity, and accordingly their financial operations are excluded from this report. 

Cherokee Nation Education Foundation 

Cherokee National Historical Society 

Adair County Indian Credit Association 

Section 202 Housing Projects (except Tsa-La-Gi Apartments) 

Environmental Advisory Group 

In fiscal year 2006, the Nation and CNE and the Cherokee National Historical Society entered into an 
operations management Memorandum of Agreement. This event is discussed more fully in Note 18. 

Cherokee Nation law requires that all corporations, majority owned by the Nation, and incorporated under 
Cherokee Nation law are subject to a pay a dividend to the Nation of 25% of net income. To date, CNE is the 
only Cherokee Nation Corporation to pay such dividend as it is the only discretely presented component unit 
incorporated under Cherokee Nation law that made a profit in 2005. Effective January 2606, the dividend 
was increased to 30% of net income. The dividend requirement has not been applied to the Nation's blended 
component units that were incorporated under Cherokee Nation law. 



BASIS O F  PRESENTATION 

Government-Wide Financial Statement+The government-wide financial statements provide operational 
accountability information for the Nation as an economic unit. The governmentlwide financial statements 
report the government's ability to maintain service levels and continue to meet its obligations as they come 
due. The statements include all governmental activities and all business-type activities of the primary 
government and its component units. These statements include the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement 
of Activities as directed by GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements - and Management's 
Discussion and Analysis - for  State and Local Governments ("GASB 34"). Under GASB 34 reporting, 
fiduciary funds and fiduciary-type component units a re  omitted from the government-wide financial 
statements. 

Fund Financial Statements-The accounts of the Nation are organized on the basis of funds, each of which 
is considered to be an independent fiscal and accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted 
for within separate sets of self-balancing accounts, which comprise its assets: liabilities, fund equity, 
revenues, expenditures, and transfers. The General Fund is always a major governmental fund. Other major 
funds are determined as funds whose revenues,-expenditureslexpenses, assets or liabilities are at least ten 
percent of the totals for all governmental or enterprise funds and at least five percent of the aggregate amount 
for all governmental and enterprise funds for the same item. Funds not meeting the criteria of a major fund 
are aggregated and presented in a single column in the fund financial statements. The Nation uses the 
following funds, grouped by fund type. 

Governmental Funds--Governmental funds are those through which most govemmental functions 
of the Nation are financed. The acquisition, use, and balances of the Nation's expendable financial 
resources and the related liabilities (except those accounted for in proprietary funds) are accounted for 
through govemmental funds. 

- General Fund-The General Fund represents the operating activities of the hibal 
government. All umeshicted resources not accounted for in other funds are reported 
in the General Fund. 

- Special Revenue Funds-Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds 
of government grants or other specific revenue sources that are reshicted by law or 
adminishative action to finance particular functions or activities of the Nation. The 
following are the Nation's major special revenue funds: 

- Self Governance-DOI-Roads-Established to account for funds received 
from the Department of Interior ("DOI") to expand the Nation's 
transportation activities such as planning, designing, constructing, and 
maintaining transportation facilities. Roads constructed with DO1 funds 
are not capitalized by the Nation as they are hansferred to other 
governmental agencies upon completion. These expenditures are 
generally presented as community senrice expenditures in the 
accompanying financial statements. 

- Self Governance-DHRS-Established to account for funds received 
under the Nation's Self Governance compact with the IJnited States 
Government. These funds are used to administer a number of programs 
under Indian Health Services relating to health and human services. These 
expenditures are generally presented as health and community services 
expenditures in the accompanying financial statements. 

- Housing and Urban Development-Established to account for grant 



funds received from the Department of Housing and Urban Development 
to improve living cond~tions and renovate homes of Indian residents. 
During fiscal 2005, the majority of the program expenditures were in the 
form of subrecipient payments to the Housing Authority, a discretely 
presented proprietary component unit of the Nation. These expenditures 
are generally presented as community service expertditures in the 
accompanying financial statements. 

- Permanent Funds-Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally 
restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may beused for purposes 
supporting the Nation's programs. The Nation's Permanent Funds contain two 
endowments, both of which allow the expendime of income for tuition and educational 
purposes, with the principal being unavailable for disbursement. The bust agreements 
state the distributions of income shall go to individuals ~ne -~ua r t e r  or more of Cherokee 
blood quantum. All fund balances from the endowments are restricted and reserved. 

Governmental fund financial statements include a balance sheet and a statement of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balances for all major governmental funds and nonmajor funds 
aggregated. A reconciliation is presented to summarize the differences in net assets of the 
governmental fund financial statements and the net assets of the govemmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. These differences are further explained in Note 2 to the basic 
financial statements. 

Proprietary Funds-Proprietary funds are used to 'account for the Nation's ongoing organizations 
and activities which are similar to those often found in the private sector where the intent is that costs 
of providing goods and services be recovered through user charges. The proprietary funds maintained 
by the Nation are internal service funds, enterprise funds, and discretely presented component units, 
which represent the activities of the various entities established by the Nation for income and job 
producing purposes. 

- Internal Service Funds-Internal service funds are used to report activities which 
provide goods or services to other funds, departments, or agencies of the primary 
government and its component units, or to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement 
basis. The Nation includes services such as internal leases, force accounts, fringe pool, 
indirect cost pool, and hibal operations' construction management in these funds. 
Substantially all internal service funds' net assets and activities are combined with the 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Note disclosures 
for govemmental activities also include related amounts for the internal senice funds. 

- Enterprise Funds-The enterprise funds are proprietary funds that are used to report 
activities for which a fee is charged to external users. The Nation accounts for its 
Tsa-La-Gi Apartments, Landfill Operations, Childhood Development Centers, Economic 
Development Trust Authority ("EDTA") and Other enterprise activities in these funds. 
None of the Nation's enterprise funds are reported as major funds. EDTA was previously 
reported as a Special Revenue fund and changed to an Enterprise fund in the current year 
to more accurately reflect the activities in the EDTA. 

- Component Units-See pzges 34 - 36 for descript~ons of .discretely presented 
component units. 



Enterprise financial statements include a statement of net assets, a statement of revenues, expenses and 
changes in fund net assets, and a statement of cash flows. A column representing internal service funds is 
also presented in these statements, with the internal service funds' net assets and activities combined with the 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. 

MEASUREMENT FOCUS Ah?) BASIS OF' ACCOUNTING 

Measurement Focus-The measurement focus determines the accounting and financial reporting treatment 
applied to a fund. The governmental and business-type activities within the government-wide Statement of 
Net Assets and Statement of Activities are presented using the economic resources measurement focus. The 
economic resources measurement focus meets the accounting objectives of determining net income, financial 
position, and cash flows. 

The fund financial statements use either the current financial resources measurement focus or the economic 
resources measurement focus as appropriate. Governmental funds use the current financial resources 
measurement focus. This measurement focus is based upon the receipt and disbursement of current available 
financial resources rather than upon net income. The measurement focus of the proprietary fund types, the 
flow of economic resources, is based upon determination of net income, financial position and cash flows. 

Basis of Accounting-The accrual basis of accounting is used throughout the government-wide financial 
statements; conversely, the financial statements of the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, and Permanent 
Funds have been prepared in accordance with the modified accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenues are 
recognized when considered both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. The 
Nation accrues intergovernmental property rentals and tax revenues based upon this concept. Expenditures 
are generally recognized when the related fund liabilities are incurred and become payable in the current 
period. Proceeds of debt are reported as other financing sources; and principal and interest on long-term debt 
are recorded as expenditures when paid. 

The financial statements of the Entergrise Funds, Internal Service Funds, and the proprietary component units 
have been prepared in accordance with the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, revenues are recorded 
when earned, and expenses and related liabilities are recorded when incurred. 

Accounting Policies-The Nation's significant accounting policies related to the following basic financial 
statement categories are summarized below: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents-The Nation considers all highly liquid investments in debt securities with 
maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. A "pooled cash" concept is used in 
maintaining certain cash accounts in the accounting records. Under this method, cash is pooled and each fund 
participating in the pool has equity in the pooled amount. Pooled cash accounts consist principally of interest- 
bearing and non-interest-bearing demand deposit accounts. Effective with the 2005 financial statements, the 
Nation has implemented the disclosure requirements of GASB Statement No. 40, Deposits and Investment 
Risk Disclosures. 

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents-Amounts represent certain bank account balances restricted for 
specific purposes as described in Note 4. - 
InvestrnentsThe Nationaccounts for its investments in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, 
Accounting and Financial Reportingjor Certain Inveslme~tts andfor Exterr;al Investment Pools. GASB 31 
establishes accounting and financial reporting standardsfor most in~~estments held by governmental entities. 
The Nation reports investments at fair value. Fair value is deteimined usingquoted market prices. 



Inventories I 
The Nation, through its participation in the Clinics Program, maintains an inventory of pharmaceutical 
drugs received from the United States Department of Health and Human Services. Title to these 
inventories does not pass to the Nation, which acts only as a distribution agent for the federal government. 
The value of drugs on hand related to this program has not been included in the Nation's financial 

I 
statements. I 
The Nation maintains an inventory of the food received for disbursement from Cherokee Nation's Food 
Distribution program. Food acquisitions are initially recorded as inventory and as deferred revenue and 
are charged to expenditures as used, using the FIFO method. Food inventories are valued at the cost 
assigned to such food items by the granting agency. 

I 
I 

CNE's inventories consist primarily of smokeshop, convenience store, gift shop, and gaming inventories I 
and are valued at the lower of cost FIFO or market. 

CNI's inventories are valued at the lower of cost FIFO or market and consist principally of raw materials 
and purchased finished goods. Reserves are provided for slow-moving or obsolete inventories. 

I 
I 

HACN, as a result of the operation of the Title V1 Loan program primarily, has built or acquired a number I 
of homes in various locations in anticipation of the expected demand for the homes as well as homes for 
specific homebuyers in accordance with an agreement with them. These homes are presented as 
inventory by HACN. I 

Capital Assets-The Nation's accounting policies regarding capital assets such as land, buildings, vehicles, 
and equipment are that these assets, with an initial cost of $5,000, or more are to be capitalized and 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Purchased or constructed capital assets are valued at historical 
cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at fair value at the date of the donation. 

I 
Title to certain property and buildings utilized by the Nation, such as Sequoyah High School, the Child Care 
Development Center, and other land is held by the federal government. Therefore, such assets are not I 
reflected as capital assets in the accompanying financial statements. The Nation has chosen the straight-line 
depreciation method for its capital assets based on the estimated useful lives of the capital assets as follows: I 

Class of Asset 

Buildings and improvements 
Equipment 

Estimated Useful Life 

20-50 years 
3-20 ye2rs 

The Cherokee Nation has the ability to request that land owned by the Nation and its component units be 
placed into trust status with the United States of America in Trust for the Cherokee Nation ("trust status"). If 
land is accepted into trust status, the Nation and its component units have the ability to continue using the 
property. Activities such as the Nations gaming activities can only be conducted on land held in trust status. 
When land goes into trust status, the title to the property is transferred to the Federal Government. Under 
generally accepted accounting principles this !and must be removed from the books of the Nation or its 
component units since the Nation no longer has title to the land. During the year ended September 30, 2005 
land with a cost basis of $282,00Owas transferred into trust status and was written off by the Nation as a loss 
on disposition of assets. At September 30,2005, there were wrious parcels of land owned by the Nation and 
its component units that the Nation has requested to be placed into trust status. The cost basis of this 
property will be written off by the Nation when, and if, the property is accepted into mlst status. 



Fund Financial Statements-In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund 
operations are accounted for as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. 
Capital assets used in proprietary fund operations are accounted for in the same manner as in the 
government-wide statements. 

Deferred Grant Revenues-The Nation is the recipient of grants from several different federal and state 
agencies. In some instances, the grants are advance funded. The Nation records these grants as deferred 
revenue until the funds are expended in accordance with the grant terms. 

, Landfill Site Development, Closure, and Postclosure Care Costs-The Nation capitalizes expenditures 
incurred for development of landfill cells for future use and amortizes such costs over the estimated life of the 
developed cell beginning upon its activation. The Nation, based on the cumulative amount of used capacity, 
accrues the currently estimated liability for closure and postclosure care costs. Such estimated costs include 
expected equipment and facility costs, costs of the final cover and postclosure care. 

Taxes 

The Nation, except for CNI, is exempt from federal and state income taxes; consequently, no provision 
for income taxes is included in the accompanying financial statements for any funds, excluding CNI. 

Tsa-La-Gi Apartments are registered as tribal lands held in trust. As such, it is exempt from the payment 
of properly taxes. 

CNE pays a gaming tax based on the previous year's gross revenues pursuant to provisions of the 
National Indian Gaming Regulatory Act Amounts owed under the gaming tax are paid to the National 
Indian Gaming Commission ("NIGC") and have been reflected within operating expenses i n  the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Assets. Total payments for Sscal year 2005 
were $87,000. 

Compensated Absences-Vacation leave for the primary government is granted to all permanent full-time 
and eligible part-time employees. The annual amount of vacation time accrued varies, depending upon years 
of service, from 13 to 26 days for full-time employees. Permanent part-time employees earn vacation leave 
according to the pro-rata full-time hours worked. The maximum amount of vacation that may be accumulated 
and canied over to the following year is 30 days. Accumulated vacation leave vests, and the Nation is 
obligated to make payment, even if the employee terminates. 

Upon request from the employee and approval by the supervisor and Human Resources, the ~herokee  Nation 
annually buys back designated amounts of accrued am-ual leave from RegulariFull Time and Regulaflart 
Time employees, subject to restrictions based on funding agency guidelines as well as fund availability. In 
Fiscal Year 2005, the Cherokee Nation bought back $730,000 of a c ~ u e d  annual leave. 



Equity Classifications 

Government-Wide Statements-Equity is classified as net assets and displayed in three componei~ts: 

1. Inverted in capital assets, net of related debt--Consists. of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any notes or other borrowings attributable to 
those assets. 

2. Restricted net assets--Consists of net assets with constraints placed on the use either by external 
groups, such as grantors or laws and regulations of other governments, or law through Tribal 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

3. Unrestricted net assets-All other assets that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or "invested 
in capital assets, net of related debt." 

Fund Financial Statements-Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance is 
further classified as reserved and unreserved. Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the 
government-wide statements. 

Revenue Recognition-The Nation considers revenue to he susceptible to accrual in the governmental funds 
as it becomes measurable and available, as defined under the modified accrual basis of accounting. The 
Nation defines the availability period for revenue recognition as ninety (90) days. The Nation's major 
revenue sources that meet this availability criterion are Motor Fuel Tax (MI;T), Motor Vehicle Tax revenues 
and dividends declared by Component Units. 

Program Revenues-There are two classifications of programmatic revenues for the Nation, grant revenues 
and program revenue. Grant revenues are revenues from federal, state, and private grants. These revenues 
are recognized as the related expenditures are made and are reported as intergovernmental revenues. The 
primary source of program revenue is earned income in connection with the operation of the Nation's clinics 
and other health-related services, which are funded by the Department of Health and Human Services 
("DHHS") Self Governance Compact. Under the provisions of the Self Governance Agreement with DHHS, 
the Nation is required to expend this program income for purposes similar to those funded by the basic DHHS 
Self Governance Compact. There are no specific requirements designating when or in what order program 
and other self governance funds should be spent. Program income earned from clinic and other health-related 
services during the year ended September 30,2005 was approximately $12.1 million. 

Operating and Non-Operating Revenues and Expenses-In the Proprietary Funds and component units, 
operating revenues are those revenues produced as a result of providing senices and producing and delivering 
goods, including all transactions and other events. Non-operating revenues are funds primarily provided by 
investing activities, such as interest income and Federal grants received by HACN. Operating expenses are 
those expenses related to the production of revenue. Non-operating expenses are those expenses not directly 
related to the production of revenue, and includes items such as interest expense and losses on disposal of 
assets. 

Interest Income-Interest income is recorded as earned in the fund holding the interest bearing asset, 

Interest Income-Self Governance Compacts-The Nation receives certain amounts of advance funding as a 
self governance compact tribe in three large self-governance compacts wlth the DO1 and DHHS. These funds 
are invested in interest-earning assets until the funds are expended under the terms of the self governance 
compacts. The Nation need not refund the interest earnings under these compacts and is not directly 
accountable to the DO1 or the DHHS for the expenditure of these interest earnings. The discretionary interest 



is recorded in the Self Governance funds but is allocated to other programmatic expenditures through the 
budgeting process. During the year ended September 30,2005, the Nation's interest earnings under the DO1 
Self Governance Compact, DO1 - Roads, and DHHS Self Governance Compacts were approximately 
$73,000, $561,000 and $618,000, respectively. 

Interest Income-Grants-The Nation receives certain amounts of advance funding in connection with three 
large grants: (1) NAHASDA, funded by HUD, (2) the Sequoyah High School Grant, which is funded by the 
DOI, and (3) PL-102-477 which is funded by the Department of Labor ("DOL") and the DHHS through the 
DOI. The applicable legislation and regulations for each grant authorize the earning of interest on advance 
payments; the use of which is governed by the same. 

Internal Activities-The Nation's policy for eliminating internal activities in the Government-wide 
Statement of Activities is the look-back approach. This method prescribes that the internal senice funds 
operate on a breakeven basis. The net profit or loss on an internal service fund is to be allocated to the 
government's programs/departments that benefited from the goods or services provided based on their 
proportionate benefit. 

Indirect Costs-The Government-wide Statement of Activities does not use a separate column to identify 
allocated indirect costs since the allocation is automatically calculated. Indirect costs are included in the 
program operating expenses reported for individual functions and activities in the fund statements. 

The Nation's indirect cost plan utilizes a fixed rate with carryforward. To the extent that actual indirect cost 
expenses differ materially from indirect cost recoveries,. the difference is recorded as deferred revenue 
(overrecovered) or a deferred charge (underrecovered) and reversed in the period the difference is used to 
adjust the indirect cost rate. 

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting Policies-Title 62, 531-32 provides the !egal level of budgetary control 
for the Cherokee Nation. The Executive and Finance Committee of the Council, upon direction of the 
Secretary-Treasurer and with advisement from the Controller, shall formulate an annual appropriations bill. 
The bill shall contain the legal budgeted annual revenue and expenditures for the general fund, and enterprise 
funds, the executive, legislative, and judicial branches of government. The sources of revenue may be based 
upon estimates. The budgeted expenditures for these funds shall not exceed total estimated revenues and 
beginning fund balance. The Executive and Finance Committee of the Council, upon direction of the 
Secretary-Treasurer and with advisement from the Controller, shall be responsible for proposing amendments 
to the annual appropriations law based upon material changes in real or estimated revenues and expenditures 
that affect the total amounts budgeted. Any amendments to the annual appropriations bill shall be presented 
to the full Council for consideration and passage. Any funds received by the Cherokee Nation, the use of 
which is determined by the granting or contracting agency (special revenue funds) shall be used only for those 
purposes and under those conditions for which the hnds are made available and such funds are not subject to 
legal appropriation by the Tribal Council. 

The basic financial statements contain a budget and actual comparative statement for the General Fund, a 
legally budgeted fund. A budgetary statement for enrerprise funds, which are also legally budgeted, is 
included in the budgetary information section of Other ~ ' u ~ ~ l e m e n t a q  Information. 

Budgets for the Nation are prepared on the same basis of accounting as the financial reports; therefore, no 
reconciliation is necessary. 

Management Estimates-The preparation of financial statements in conformity with G.4AP requires 
management to make estimates and zssumptions that affect the reported amou3ts of assets and liabilities and 

. ... ' , disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the finaiisial statements and the reported amcunts 



of revenues, expenditures, and expenses during the reported period. Actual' resc!ts could differ from those 
estimates. 

I 
Recently Issued Accounting Standards- The following accouncng standards have been recently issued and 
will be adopted as applicable by the Nation in future years: 

I 
Statement No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting of Ca~i ta l  Assets and for Insurance Recoveries - This 
statement requires governments to report the effects of capital assets impairment in their financial statements 
when they occur rather than as a part of ongoing depreciztion expense. The guidance also enhances 

I 
comparability of fiiancial statements by requiring all governments to account for insurance recoveies in the I 
same manner. This statement will become effective for the Nation in the fiscal year ending September 30, 
2006. I 
Statement No. 44, Economic Condition Reporting: TIie Stalislical Section - an amendment of NCGA I 
Slatemen! I - This Statement establishes and modifies requirements related to the supplementary information 
presented in a statistical section. This statement will become effective for the Nation in the fiscal year ending 
September 30,2006. I 
Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other 
Than Pensions - This. Statement establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting for post 
employment health care and other benefits if provided separately from a pension plan. This statement will 
become effective for the Nation in the fiscal year ending September 30,2008. 

Statement No. 46, Net Assets Restricted by Enabling Legislation - This Statement defines a legally 
enforceable enabling legislation restriction as one that a party external to a govemment can compel a 
government to honor. It also specifies the accounting and financial reporting requirements of new enabling 
legislation or the legal enforceability of reevaluated legislation. GASB SLatement No. 46 will provide the 
Nation with clarification of enabling legislation and provide guidance on how to respond to changes in the 
circumstances sunounding an enabling legislation restriction. This statement will become effective for the 
Nation in the fiscal year ending September 30,2006. 

Statement No. 47, Accounting for Termination Benefits - This statement establishes the accounting standards 
for termination benefits. It requires employers to disclose a description of the termination benefit 
arangement, the cost of the termination benefits, and significant methods and assumptions used to determine 
termination benefit liabilities. This statement will become effective for the Nation in the fiscal year ending 
September 30,2006. 

Management has not yet determined the impact of these statements on the Nation's financial statements. 

2. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-\VIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation of total fund balance of the governmental 
funds to the total net assets of the govemmental activities in the statement of net assets. One element of that 
reconciliation explains,that "capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, used in g o - m e n t a l  activities 
are not financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds." The details of this $28,511,000 
difference are as follows (in thousands): 

Capital assets, net 
Less: Internal service fund capital assets 

Capital assets used in governmental activities . $ ,?8,5ll 



Another element of that reconciliation explains that "asse?s recorded in the government-wide financial 
statements are not available to pay for current period expenditures, therefore, are not recorded m the funds." 
The details of this $9,741,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 

M S  Indirect Cost Settlement (Note 5) $ 3,437 
Arkansas River Drybed Lands Settlement receivable (Yclte 5) 5,972 
Investment in Cherokee Health Partners: LLC 332 

Net Adjustment to increase fund balance - total govemmental 
funds to arrive at net assets - governmental abivitieq $ 9,741 

The final element of that reconciliation, excluding the net &sets of the internal service funds of $1,687,000, 
explains that "liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, not reported in the, 
funds." The details of this $1,767,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 

M S  IDC Settlement legal fee liability (Note 5 )  $ 1,146 
Long-term debt - governmental funds 497 
Liability payment for component unit 154 
Allocation of internal service fund to enterprise fund -- (30) 
Net Adjustment to decrease fund balance - total govemmenta! , , .  

funds to arrive at net assets - governmenial activities % 1,767 

A reconciliation of the net chanee in fund balance - total eovernmental funds re~orted in the statement of - .. 
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance for the governmental funds to the change in net assets of 
governmental activities reported in the statement of activities is presented in !he accompanying basic financiai 
statements. 

. .  . 

One element of this reconciliation explains "governmenial funds report capiml outlays as expenditures. 
However, in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives 
and reported as depreciation expense. 'This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in 
the current period." The details of this $8,091,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 

Capital expenditures in governmental funds capitalized on government-wide 
financial statements $ 9,659 

Depreciation expense (1,568) 

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances -total governmental 
funds to arrive at changes in net assets of governmental activities $ 8,091 

The next element of that reconciliation clarifies that "revenue derived from the result of the joint venture's net 
income is not considered a current financial resource and is thus not recorded in the fund statements." The. 
$1 84,000 is the Nation's share of the net income of the joint venture for FY2005. 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "revenues previously reported in the statement of activities 
that did not provide current financial resources were not reported as revenues in the fund;. These revenues are 
now presented in the fund statements as they become available." The details of this $19,557,000 difference are 
as follows (in thousands): 



Indian Health Services Indirect Cost Settlement, net (Note 5) 
Amounts accrued in government-wide in 2004, recorded 

at h n d  level in 2005 
Aarkansas River Drybed Lands 

Net adjustment to increase net changes h fund balances - 
total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net assets of 
governmental activities 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "the issuance of long-term debt provides current financial 
resources to govemmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current 
financial resources of govemmental funds." The details of this $1,320,000 difference are as follows (in 
thousands): 

Debt principal payments $ 1,685 
Amount provided from HACN to the Nation for Title VI payment (100) 
Recordmg of Long-term debt for EDTA due to change in fund type 988 
Amount received from HACN in FY 2004 for Title VI payment, 

payment made by Nation in FY 2005 (1,253) 

Net adjustment to decrease changes in fmd balances- 
total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net assets of 
governmental activities. 

Some expenses are reported in the Statement of Activities when incurred and presented as expenditures in the 
governmental funds when paid. The details of this $927,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 

Arkansas River Drybed Lands litigation legal fee 
Indian Health Services Indirect Cost Settlement, net (Note 5) 
Disallowed cost settlement 
Other 

Net adjustment to increase net changes in hnd  balance - '  

total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net assets of 
governmental activities 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "the internal service fundsare used to account for those 
activitieswhich provide services to other functions within the government. These costs are allocated to the 
governmental funds in the government-wide financial statements. This amount is the net effect of the 
allocations." The details of this $2,785,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 

Internal Service Fund activities: 
Changes in net assets $ (2,785) 

Net adjustment to decrease net changes in fund balance - 
total governmental hnds  to arrive at changes in net assets of 
governmental activities $ (2,785) 



3. STEWARDSHIP, CORIPLIANCE. AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

The Internal Service Funds' Force Accounts, Fringe Pool, and Construction had net deficits of %31,000, 
$6,393,000, and $445,000 respectively, at September 30, 2005. If the above deficits cannot be recovered in 
future years through operating revenues and fiinge charges to other funds of the Nation, the General Fund 
may be required to cover the deficits. 

4. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Nation's deposits may not be returned to 
it. Cherokee Nation statute requires that funds be deposited in a financial institution insured either by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or Federal Savmgs and Loan Insurance Corporation. All balances in 
excess of insurance limits require pledged collateral from the financial institution. Summarized, the 
uninsured and uncollateralized deposit amounts are as follows (in thousands): 

Primary Government - Uninsured and uncollateralized 
Component Units - Uninsured and uncollateralized 

Total Uninsured and uncollateralized 

I n v e s t m e n t s  The Nation's permissible investments include corporate obligations, United States 
Government obligations and Certificates of Deposit. For investments, custodial risk is the risk that in the 
event of the failure of the counterparty, the Nation will not be able to recover the value of its investments in 
the possession of an outside third party. The Nation's investment policy does not specifically address 
custodial credit risk; however, investments are held by third party custodians in the Nation's name. 

Interest.rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. The Nation manages interest rate risk by maintaining a balance of highly liquid investments and a 
"ladder" approach to long term investments. Funds are invested in blocks, normally of $1,000,000 or greater, 
with maturities ranging from one to five years. Any investment with a matmity date of over five years requires 
CN Tribal Council approval. 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the 
investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization. It is the Nation's policy to limit its investments in corporate bonds to the top two ratings issued 
by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations (NRSROs). The Nation's investments in U.S. agencies 
and Commercial paper were rated AAA by Standard &Poor's and Fitch Ratings and Aaa by Moody's Investors 
Service. The Nation's and C N E ' s  mutual bond fund investments were rated AAA by Standard & Poor's and 
Aaa by Moody's Investors Service. 



Investments, categorized as to Interest and credit risk, at September'30, 2005 were as follows (in thousands): 
I 

Investment T v ~ e  
Primary Government: 
U.S. Treasuries 
Government sponsored entities 
Commercial paper 
Money Market Mutual funds 
Total Primary Govemment 

Component Units: 
Money market funds 
Govemment Obligations Fund 
Government sponsored entities 
Total Component Units 

Investment Maturities (in Years) 
Fair Less Than 'fore Credit Rating 

Value 1 1 - 5  6 - 10 Than 10 Moodyls/S&P 
I 

$ 5,437 $ 1,690 $ 3,747 $ - % - NIA 
27,529 10,629 15,271 1,219 410 Aaa1AA.A 

I 
1,419 1,419 - AdAAA 
5,721 5,721 - -  (1) 

$ 40,106 $ 19,459 $ 19,018 $ 1,219 $ 410 - -  
I 

$ 29,290 $ 29,290 $ - $ - $ - (1) 
8,797 8,797 AAAIAaa 

I 
6,347 1,484 4,863 M A a a  

S 44,434 $ 39,571 S 4,863 6 - $ - - - - I 

(1) While these Money Market Mutual funds and Money market funds do not have formal ratings, they are 
Governmental or Institutional type funds that are invested only in securities that have the highest short term 
rating from at least two NRSRO's. 

A reconciliation of the investments for the Primary Government presented above to the investments as 
presented in the statement of net assets follows (in thousands): 

Investments as presented above: $ 40,106 
Plus Certificates of Deposit reported as investments 44,724 
Less investments reported as Reshicted Investments (16,705) 
Less Money market funds recorded as Cash & Cash l5quivalents (5,721) 

Total investments .% 62,404 - 

Restricted Cash. Cash E~uivalents and Investments-Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments 
and reserved cash at September 30,2005 included the following: 

$4,167,000 restricted for conshction at Sequoyah High School. 

$5,076,000 relating to Indirect cost settlement restricted for expanding health care facilities and cash 
reserves. 

$3,358,000 relating to the Motor Fuel Tax Scholarship Kesme. 

$25,000 reserved for natural resources replacement. 

Unspent proceeds of $1,000,000 in the Internal Service Funds obtained from bank financing. 



$113,000 representing tenant security deposits held in irust, replacement reserves and mortgage escrow 
deposits for Tsa-La-Gi. 

$1,691,000 relating to the capital replacement and closure and postclosure care costs of the Landfill 
Operat~ons fund. 

$538,000 relating to scholarship funds. 

$13,551,000 reflecting the balance in Motor Fuel Tax Edocatiosi Trcst. 

$2,527,000 held In escrow relating to the Title VI loan with a bank (see Note 9). 

9 $9,082,000 relating to HACN's lease-to-own homeownership program 

$1,562,000 relating to CNE's player pool. 



5. RECEIVABLES 

Receivables at September 30,2005 conskted of the following (in thousands): 

Governmental Fund Receivables: 
General 

Motor fuel taxes 
Other taxes 
Other 

Primaty Government 
Entitlements1 

Grants 8 Contrack Accounts Interest 
Receivable Receivable Receivable Total 

Special Revenue Funds: 3,116 5,103 167 8,386 

Governmental fund receivables 3,128 7,822 275 11,225 

Receivables recorded in the Government-wide 
fmancial statements that are not recorded 
in the funds: 

Arkansas River Drybed Lands Settlement 
IHS Indirect Cost Settlement 

Other - Internal Service Funds ' 249 249 

Receivables of Governme~al Activities $ 9,100 $ 11,508 $ 275 $ 20,883 - 
Business Type Activities: 

Landfill operations 
Other 

Less: Allowance for uncollectible 
accounts 



Component Units 

HACN CNE CNI CNHHS Total 
Receivables: 
Accounts 391 5,520 12,567 257 18,735 

Interest 329 329 
Due fiom primary 
government 1,579 1,579 

2,299 5,520 12,567 257 20,643 
Less: Allowance for 

uncollectibles 0 (184) (21) (285) 

Receivables, net $ 2,219 $ 5,520 $ 12,383 $ 236 $ 20,358 

Arkansas River Drybed Lands Settlement- The Arkansas River Dly Bed Settlement receivable relates to 
an agreement reached with the Federal govemment in 2003, whereby the Nation was awarded a settlement of 
$20,000,000 to be paid at the rate of $5,000,000 per year commencing in 2004. The $20,000,000 settlement 
was recorded in the government-wide financial statements in 2003. In addition to the scheduled $4,218,000 
payment received in 2005, the Nation also received an additional $4,111,000 payment in 2006 that was 
accrued in the Nation's other governmental funds at September 30, 2005. The remaining receivable at 
septemb& 30,2005 of $5,972,000 that is not reflected in the fund level financial statements is reflected in the 
Nation's Government-wide statement of net assets. The Nation has agreed to pay- $1,082,000 in legal fees in 
connection with this settlement. One legal firm is seeking additional legal fees of approximately $1,450,000, 
however, management of the Nation does not believe it will be required to pay these additional fees, and 
therefore no related liability has been recorded by the Nation. At September 30, 2005, the total legal fee 
liability of $1,082,000 is reflected as a reduction of the relatedreceivable in the fund financial statements. As 
part of the settlement agreemenf the Nation could also. be required to pay up to $2,000,000 of any future 
settlements made by the federal govemment with other Native American Indian Tribes. This portion (10%) of 
the payments received to date of $1,403,000 is being held in a separate account by the federal government and 
is not available to the Nation until this contingency is resolved. As a result this portion of the proceeds is 
reflected as restricted net assets in the accompanying financial statements. Pursuant to an act passed by the 
Cherokee Nation Tribal Council in 2004 the settlement proceeds, after payment of legal fees and other claims, 
if any, are reserved for the purchase of land in designated areas. 

lHS Indirect Cost Settlement- The M S  Indirect Cost Settlement receivable relates to the resolution of 
claims submitted in prior years for the nonpayment of contract support costs (including indirect costs) by the 
Indian Health Services (MS) during fiscal years 1994 through 1997. These claims were the subject of various 
administrative and legal proceedings over the last several years. On March 1, 2005 the matter was resolved 
by a decision of the Supreme Court of the United States which ruled in favor of the Nation. The Nation 
received Davment in the amount of $8.314.000 for vears 1994 throueh 1996. which was the net of the award 
of $12,569,000 less the attorney's feesand expenses of $4,255,000. -The   at ion has reflected the 1997 claim 
of $3,437,000 and the related attorney's fees of $1,146,000, in the accompanying govemme2t-wide statement . - -  
of net assets. These amounts have been reduced in FY 2005 to reflect a change in the estimate of the amount 
that could be received if the matter is resolved in the Nation's favor. This senlement will be reflected in the 
Nation's fund level financial statements as received. 



CNBIChTEICh? Matters-As of September 30, 2005, CNE had an outstanding note receivable from CNB of 
$2,769,206, net of an allowance of $1,100,000. The note bears interest at prime plus 1%, which at September 
30, 2005, was set at 7.50%. CNE also provides funding for certam operating expenditures of CNB. 

Mortpages receivable-Title VI-HACN has mortgages receivable at September 30, 2005 totaling 
$27,140,937 from individuals who are participating in the Title VI loan program. Each of these loans is 
secured by a mortgage on the house sold by HACN. The loans have an interest rate of 4% and are payable 
over 30 years. No allowance has been recorded as of September 30, 2005 as the Housing Authority believes 
the amounts to be collectable or if the houses are required by HACN, the value of the home will equal or 
exceed the balance of the loan. At September 30, 2005, the current and non-current portions of these 
mortgages receivable were $515,426 and $26,625,511, respectively. 

6. INTERFUR?) BALANCES AND TRANSFERS 

Interfund balances at September 30, 2005 consisted of the following (in thousands): 

Due to general fund from: 
Nonmajor enterprise funds 
Internal service funds 
Self Governance DO1 -Roads 
Self Governance DHHS 
Housing and Urban Development 
Nonmajor governmental funds 

Total due to general fund from other funds 

Due to nonmajor enterprise funds from: 
General fund 

Due to internal service funds from: 
General find 

Interfund balances result from the time lag between the dates that interfund goods and services are provided 
or reimbursable expenditures occur, the dates the transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and the 
date payments between funds are made. 



Interfund transfers for the year ended September 30,2005 consisted of the following (in thousands): 

Transfer 
To General fund from: 

Nonmajor governmental funds 
Internal service fbnds 

Total transfers to general fund 

To internal service fund from: 
General find 
Self governance DO1 Roads 
Self governance DHHS 
Nonmajor governmental finds 

Total transfers to internal service fund 

To enterprise fund from: 
General fund 
Nonmajor governmental hnds 

Total transfers to enterprise find 

To nonmajor governmental funds from: 
General fund 
Housing and Urban Development 

Total transfers to nonmajor governmental funds 

Amount 

Transfers are ge'nerally used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them 
to the fund that statute or budget requires to expend them or (2) move unrestricted revenues collected in the 
General Fund, or other funds, to h a n c e  various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with 
budgetary authorizations. 

An additional transfer of $2,075,000 i?om the Special Revenue fund to the Enterprise fund is recorded to 
reflect the transfer of EDTA. This amount reflects the ending fund balance of EDTA in FY2004 as =corded 
using the modified accrual basis of accounting. An additional adjustment of $988,000 was made to this 
transfer on the Enterprise fund to reflect the change in fund type and corresponding change to the accrual 
basis of accounting. 

Another transfer occurred in March 2005 when the Nation transferred $200,000 as an initial contribution to a 
CNB as a new wholly-owned tribal corporation. This was recorded as an expenditure by the Nation and a 
non-operating revenue by CNB. During 2005, HACN also contributed $400,000 KO the Nation for matching 
funds on a federal grant received by the Nation. This was recorded as an expense by HACN md a revenue by 
the Nation. 



7. INVENTOFUES 

The Nation's inventories were comprised of the following at September 30,2005 (in thousands): 

Internal 
Service 
Punds 

Nonmajor 
Governmental Component 

Funds Units Total 
Finished goods and 

raw materials 
Food for distribution 
Supplies 

Less inventory reserves 

Total inventories $ 118 - 

The majority of  the component unit inventory at September 30, 2005 relates to CNI: a component unit 
engaged in the production, assembly, and repair of electronic component parts for the telecommunications 
and other industries. 

8. CAPITAL ASSETS 

A summary of capital assets activity by major class, for the year ended September 30, 2005 follows (in 
thousands): 

Governmental Activities Balance, 
September 30. 

2004 

Additions 
and Net 

Transfers 

Balance. 
September 30, 

2005 Retirements 

Activity by Major Class 
Capital assets, not being depreciated - 
Land 
Construction in process 
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 

Capital assets being depreciated: 
Buildings and improvements 
Equipment 
Land improvements 

Total capital assets being depreciated 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings and improvements 
Equipment 

Total accumulated depreciation 

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 

Activity by major class capital 
assets, net 



Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows (in thousands): 
Governmental activities: 

Tribal Government 
Health Services 
Education Services 
Human Services 
Community Services 
Other Tribal Services 

Total Governmental activities depreciation expense 

Business-tvwe Activities Balance, Additions 
September 30, and Net 

2004 Transfers 
Capital assets, not being depreciated - 
Land $ 105 $ (24) 

Capital assets being depreciated: 
Buildings and improvements 6,427 1,750 
Machinery and equipment 2,296 429 

Total capital assets being depreciated 8,723 2,179 

-Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings and improvements (1,509) (637) 
Machinery and equipment (1,714) (289) 

Total accumulated depreciation (3,223) (926) 

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 5,500 1,253 

Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 5,605 $ 1,229 

Balance, 
September 30, 

Retirements 2005 



Com~anent Unit ActMties 

CNE ad HAW 
Capital uwo, mt&g depreciated: 
Land 
C o n s m e h i p r o m  

Tokl q i b l  lrrro mn bcing 
depmciated 

Clpihl uwoL4i depredated: 
B*gs ad mdapmvemclla 
Machimy ad q u i p m o t  

ToW mpibl .rrea bcing 
dcpmisled 

Leu assumutakd dcpmiation far. 
~ d d i ~ g s  a d  inmimpmvnnne 

Mac- a d  cquipmnt 
Tobl accmulned depreciation 

Tohl capital ssrea bcing 
drpmhtcd, nst 

CNE md HACN activities upilal 

ilSSSWS1 

O b  C o q o n m l  Unit activities - 
CNHHS md CNI capital assets, net 

Toal  of the Cornonen1 Unit 
activibs+pitll ~ S S C ~ ,  net 

Balance, 
September SO. 

2004 

1 19.573 
31,943 

51,516 

197,264 
39,743 

237,007 

(64.229) 
(19.504) 

(83,733) 

153,274 

204,790 

2.633 

S 207.423 

Additions 
and 

transfers in 

$ 2,853 
16,865 

19.718 

13.112 
14,262 

27,394 

(8,628) 
- (11.353) 

(19.981) 

7,413 

27.131 

203 . 

I 27.334 

Retirements 
and 

transfers out 

S (291) 
(17,728) 

(18,019) 

(4.381) 
(232) 

(4.613) 

3.062 
209 

--. 3.271 

(1.342) 

(19.361) 

(IIV, 

S (19,471) 

Balance. 
September 30, 

2005 

S 21.396 
7,862 

31.258 

214,847 
63,047 

277,894 

(69,795) 
(30.648) 

(lW.443) 

177,451 

208,709 

1,307 

I 209.716 

The beginning construction in progress balance for HACN differs from the amoimt presented in the prior year 
report by $3,850,760 to reflect the reclassification of work in progress on homes being built to sell to eligible 
families under the Title VI program to inventory, rather than capital assets. 

The beginning capital assets balance of CNB at September 30, 2004 of $1,717,865 has been reclassified to 
investments. 

Subsequent to the issuance of the 2004 financial statements, CNE management determined that although total 
capital asset balances presented at September 30, 2004, including accumulated depreciation, were materially 
correct there were errors in the classifications of these balances between the various categories of capital 
assets reported. The reclassification is needed because $19,368,000 in work in process at September 30,2004 
represented projects that were substantially complete and should have been reclassified to various other 
capital asset categories. 



9. LONGTERM DEBT 

Long-term debt activity for the year ended September 30,2005 was as follows (in thousands): 

Governmental Activities Balance, 
October 1, 

2004 

Notes Payable 

3.7%Note payable to Bank of America. See ( I )  
below. $ 4,436 

Note payable to bank in fixed principal 
payments. See (2) below. 19,078 

Note payable to bank bearing interest at Chase 
Prime (4% at September 30,2005) in monthly 
installments of $1 8 including interest, with final 
p a p e n t  due in October 2006, collateralized by 
future aperating transfers born CNE (limited to 
$1 8 per month) to the Nation. 334 

Note payable to bank collateralized by real 
estate bearing interest at 4% in monthly 
installments of approximately $5,000 maturing 
in 2008. 219 

N o a  payable to an individual in annual 
installments of$8O, without interest. 160 

Note payable to the Bureau of Indian Mairs  in 
monthly installments of $2, including interest of 

7.625%, with final payment due in January 
2010, collateralized by certain lease proceeds. 116 

Capital Leases 
Capital leases payable to Caterpillar Financial 
Seniceswith aggregate monthly installments of 
$9,711 including interest, with interest rates 
ranging from 4.29% to 4.44% and final payment 
due in October 2009. Secured by related 
equipment. 523 

Total long-term debt 24,866 

Compensated Absences (See (3) below) 3,322 

Total long-term debt and compensated absences S 28,188 

Balance, 
Seplernber 30. Current Lon914 

Addllionr Reductionr. 2005 Portion Portic 

Due to the change in fund type of EDTA, the October 1, 2004 balance of $988,000 was moved from 
Governmental Activities to Business-Type Activities. 

( I )  In May 2003, the Nation entered into a $5,000,000 financing agreement uith a bank to fund capital 
improvement projects and to re-finance the 1992 Series Revenue Bonds. This note bears interest at 
3.7% per annum, in monthly principal and interest installments of $49,913.with final payment due 
in May 2013. The Nation is in compliance with the financial covenants of this financing agreement 
at September 30,2005. 



(2) In July 2002, the Nation entered into a $50,000,000 loan agreement, 95% guaranteed by United 
States Department of Housing and Urban Development Title VI program. The loan proceeds are 
divided into two separate "pools" which carry different interest rates over the life of the loan. Pool 
A, with a balance at September 30, 2005of $10,926,000 canies an interest rate of 6.7%. Pool B, 
with a balance at September 30,2005 of $20,130,000 carries a variable interest rate, reset monthly, 
derived from the 30 day LIBOR + 70 basis points, which at September 30,2005 was 4.53%. Pool A 
is repayable in monthly principal payments of $54,358 through May 1, 2022, plus interest. Pool B 
was an interest only loan through March 31, 2005. Effective April 1, 2005 monthly principal 
payments of $36,232 are due through June 1, 2022, plus interest. The loan matures in December 
2022. The loan proceeds were transferred to the HACN under a loan agreement between the Nation 
and the HACN to provide funding for construction or acquisition of single-family homes within the 
Nation's fourteen county jurisdictional area. The Housing Authority provided construction and 
acquisition of housing for eligible participants using Title VI loan proceeds "drawn down" through 
the Nation. As part of its participation in the Title VI loan, the Housing Authority was required to 
deposit securities in escrow with Bank One in an amount equal to five percent of the total loan 
balance, or approximately $2,500,000. These securities are being pledged as collateral for the Title 
VI loan to cover the portion of the loan balance not guaranteed by HIJD. The interest and dividends 
generated on these securities remains the property of the Housing Authority. As collateral for the 
Title VI loan, the Nation has pledged all current and future grants for which the borrower becomes 
eligible under NAHASDA as well as program income directly generated from the use of the loan 
proceeds, program income derived from the sale or lease of real property acquired, rehabilitated or 
constructed with loan proceeds, and the securities deposited to the Pledge Account. Any program 
income generated from the above is required to be deposited into a "Loan Repayment Account" to 
serve as an additional source of payment of principal and interest related to the Title VI loan. In 
2005, $13,231,000 was drawn 'against the loan and passed through to the HACN. Accordingly, this 
amount together with prior draw downs is reported as long-term debt and as a note receivable from 
HACN. The Nation's note receivable from HACN at September 30, 2005 was $31,056,000, of 
which, $1,854,000 is inc!uded in notes receivable current and $29,202,000 is reflected as long term 
notes receivable in the government-wide statemcnt of net assets. (See Footnote 2 on page 59.) 

(3) Compensated absence liabilities are generally liquidated by the Fringe Pool Internal Service Fund, 
which allocates to and collects from other funds andlor departments within the Nation. 



The balance of long-term debt for business-type activit~es at September 30, 2005, was $2,430,000. The 
balance of Long-Term Debt for Component Units at September 30,2005, was S40:035,000. Long-term debt 
in the business-type activities and component units at September 30, 2005 consisted of the following (in 
thousands): 

Business-Tvpe Activities Balance, &lance, 
October 1. September 30, Current Long-Term 

2004 Additions Reductions 2005 Portion PorUon 

Tsa-La-Gi Apartments 
6.875% note payable to the U.S. Depament  
of Housing & Urban Development (HUD) in 
monthly installments of $10,000 including 
interest, with final payment due 2012, secured 
by certain land and buildings. 6 732 $ - S (76) $ 656 S 8! $ 575 

Landfill Operations 
4.0% note payable to Caterpillar Financial 
Services in monthly installments of $4,000 
including interest with final payment due 
April 2008. Secured by related equipment. 186 (49) 137 137 

4.865% note payable to Derricks Leasing and 
Financial Company in monthly installments of 
34,353 including interest with final payment 
due July 2008. Secured by related equipment. 182 (44) . 138 

7.75% note payable to Bank of Cherokee 
County in monthly installments of $8,165 
including interest, with final payment due 
December 2005, secured by related 
equipment. 117 (93) 54 

4.75% note payable to Caterpillar Financial 
Services in monthly installments of $8,000 
including interest with final payment due 
December 2009. Secured by related 
equipment. 

Economic Development Trust Authority 
Note payable to the Depanment of AgiculNre 
in variable annual installments including 
interest of 1% annual, with final payment due 
October 16,2030. 988 152 (43) 1,097 -- 23 

Total S 2,205 - $ 588 $ 2,430 
P - S 485 - 



Comvonent Units Balance Balance 
October 1, September 30, Current Long-Term 

2004 Additions Reductions 2005 Portion Porlion 
Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation ("AACN") 
Note payable to Chemkcc Nation in fixed monthly 
principal payments of 144,201, with interest 
calculated on the outstanding balance each month. 
As collateral for the loan, HACN has pledged all 
current and future granu, for which the borrowr 
becomes eligible under NAHASDA, as well as 
income direcUy generated fmm the use of loan 
proceeds, program income dnivcd fmm the sale or 
lease o f m l  pmpaty acquired, rehabilitated or 
conmcted with loan proceeds of the securities 
deposited to fhe pledge account. 19,024 13231 (1,354) 30,901 1,854 29.047 

Cherokee Nation Industries. Inc. ("CNI") 
Revolving line of credit. 7,705 (3,171) 4,534 I8 4,516 

Note payable fmm a bank with monthly installments 
of 15 including interest at the treasury rate plus 2.5% 
(6.213% at June 30,2005). The note matures in 
September 2005 and is s e c u d  by equipment. 57 (56) 1 1 

Promissory note payable to creditor for resbltcturing 
an existine bade oawble initiated in fiscal 2002 for - . - 
inventory purchases totaling $7,957,000 m a  long- 
term promissory note. From July 2003 to March 
2005 payments on this line of credit were based on 
the amount of sales of products securing the line of 
credit. On March 15,2005, the laser of 50% oflhe 
remaining applicable invmtov or any principal in 
exccss of$1,280 was forgiven. The adjusted balance 
ofthe note ofMarch 15,2005, after rellecting debt 
forgiveness of $5,403,000, will thm be amortized 
o v a  72 monthly installments; with interest 
calculated at 4%. 6,216 

Cherokee Nation Businesses ("CNB") 
Revoiving Promissory Note. 2,112 1,733 

Total $35,114 

HACN, during fiscal year 2005, received loan advances totaling $13,231,000 for the Title VI program. This 
resulted in a cumulative amount of funds drawn on the available loan funds of $33,231,000. The loan i s  
divided into two separate "pools" which carry different interest rates over the life of the loan. Pool A, whose 
balance at September 30, 2005 was $10,871,621 cames an interest rate of 6.7%. Pool B, whose balance at 
September 30, 2005 was $20,029,952 cames a variable interest rate reset monthly, derived from the 30 day 
LIBOR + 70 basis points, which at September 30, 2005 was 4.53%. 'Pool A is repayable in monthly principal 
payments of $54,358 through May 1, 2002, plus interest. Pool B principal payments of $100,150 began 
March of 2005 and are scheduled through June I ,  2022, plus interest. During fiscal year 2005, HACN made 
total principal payments on Pool A of $652,297 and on Pool B of $701,048. 

CNI has a $14 million revolving line of credit expiring October 2007. At June 30, 2005, there was 
approximately $4,534,000 borrowed against this line of credit. This line of credit is collateralized by 
substantially all of the assets of CNI. Interest on borrowings against the line of credit is based on the bank's 



prime rate (4.25% at June 30, 2005) and is payable monthly. The line of credit is 80% guaranteed by the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs. The amount of funds advanced onthis line of credit are not to exceed 50% of 
eligible inventory plus 80% of eligible accounts receivable of $14,000,000 whichever is less. 

On March 15, 2005 the lesser of 50% of the remaining applicable inventory or any principal in excess of 
$1,280 will be forgiven at the option of CNI. The adjusted balance will be amortized over 72 monthly 
installments, with interest calculated at 4%. 

In April 2002, CNI and a creditor restructured an existing trade payable for inventory purchases for 
$7,957,000 to a long-term promissory note. 'Under the terms of the restructuring, CNI's ultimate liability 
under the promissory note will be dependent upon sales of certain CNI products through March IS! 2005 and 
other factors. CNI has followed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Number 15, Accourrfizg by 
Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings, whereby future cash flows are compared to the 
carrying value of the debt. The cash flows are contingent based on future sales. As a result, a gain of $5,403 
as debt forgiveness has been recognized for the year ending June 30,2005. Any potential gain that may occur 
under the restructured note agreement would be recognized when future cash flows are known with certainty. 

CNB has received a line of credit from CNE in the form of a Revolving Promissory Notc for up to 
$4,000,000. Interest is prime rate plus one percent (7.5% at September 30, 2005), and is to be paid monthly 
commencing July 31, 2005. The interest incurred throughJuly 31, 2005 was added to the principal balance 
and thereafter interest payments are made on a monthly basis. The unpaid principal of the note is due on June 
30,2007. 

CNHHS received a line of credit on September 7, 2005 with a bank totaling $371,261, which expires on June 
7, 2006. Interest accrued at 7.5% and is payable monthly. Thepurpose of the line of credit is to finance the 
construction of a new office building, anticipated to be completed in March 2006. The line of credit is 
collateralized by the property. Amount outstanding at September 30,2005 was $4,896. 



Maturities of long-term debt for the Governmental and Business-type Activities are as follows (in thousands): 

Governmental Activities: 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
201 1 through 20 15 

.. 
2021 through 2025 

Total 
Business-Type Activities: 

2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
201 1 through 2015 
2016 through 2020 
2021 through 2025 
2026 through 2030 
2031 through 2035 

Total 

Principal Interest Total 

CNE entered into a $40 million dollar, two part, revolving line (Line) of credit with a bank on October 14, 
2003. The line provides for a separate $25 million dollar reducing line (Line A) available through November 
1, 2006 and a separate $15 million dollar non-reducing line (Line B) available through November 1, 2006. 
Both lines may be renewed for one additional year with the payment of a fee. non-reducing line was 

I 
renewed November 1, 2005 and extended to November 1, 2006. Both lines have an incentive based pricing 
rate scale based on a specific ratio calculation, determined annually. The initial rate was prime plus 25 basis 
points. At September 30, 2005, the interest rate in effect was 6.75%. No amounts were drawn on Line A or 

I 
B at September 30,2005. Unused borrowings under the Line &e subject to a commitment fee of 02%. The 
Line is secured by a pledge of revenues, inventory, accounts receivable, and equipment. The credit agreement 
subjects CNE to a number of covenants, including certain financial covenants. As of September 30, 2005, 
CNE was in compliance with all the respective covenant requirements in the credit agreement. 

I 
I 

11. TRUST LIABILITY 

The Housing Authority has several lease-todm homebuyer programs wherein the tenantbomebuyer may 
eventually purchase the house in accordance with contractual agreements. These t~ansactions are similar to a 
financing lease, however are not accounted for as such as the amount and ability to collect the minimum lease 
payments is not predictable. 

I 



Until the time of transfer, these homes remain the property of the HACN. The costs of those units are 
depreciated over the expected term of payoff at the time of the original agreement, generally 25 years. When the 
home is paid off in accordance with the agreements and title is lransfel~ed to the homebuyer, a p i n  or loss is 
recognized by HACN. 

The HACN Trust Liabilities reflected in the accompanying financial statements primarily includes a liability for 
funds that have been received fiom the tenants or homebuyers in the various lease-touwn programs that HACN 
operates. These funds are held in a trust type account to be applied to various uses, depending on the agreement 
with the tenanthomebuyer. The largest of the amounts included in this catego~y are for accounts attributable to 
the New Mutual Help Housing Program wherein the tenanthomebuyers are credited with a portion of the funds 
that they have contributed as well as others amounts credited to them in accordance with DHUD requirements 
and program policies. Under the provisions of mutual-help occupancy agreements, tenanthomebuyers are 
required to make payments based on the family or household income. After deducting an administrative fee 
as set forth by DHUD, the remaining balance is credited to the participant's equity pa>ment account (MEPA). 
The balance of the MEPA accounts, which are being held by HACN on behalf of the New Mutual Help 
homebuyers, was $ 9,081,507 as of September 30, 2005. This along with other credits to these 
tenanthomebuyers totaled $ $10,562,914 at September 30, 2005. Although these iunds will generally be 
retained by HACN upon the transfer of home ownership to the Tenanthomeowner, they are presented as a 
liability until then because the funds are effectively owned by the tenant /homeowner. TJpon tmnsfer of the 
home to the tenanthomeowner the funds will be considered revenue and applied to the carrying value of the 
related home and a gain or loss will be recorded by HACN. 

Additionally, at September 30,2005, other amounts included in this category include escrow deposits held by 
the Housing Authority associated with the Title VI program mortgages totaling $296,200, LeaseVurchase 
Program equities of $ $323,599 on other lease-to-own programs snd low income housing tenant's security 
deposits of $1 11,000. 

12. FUh7) BALANCE DESIGNATIONS AND RESERVATIONS 

At September 30, 2005, the Nation had a total General Fund fund balance of $58,965,000. This balance 
includes $34,762,000 that has been reserved by the Legislative Act or restricted by external sources and an 
unreserved fund balance of $24,175,000. A brief description of the reserved elements of the Nation's General 
Fund fund balance follows: 

Motor Fuel Tax-The Nation began receiving Motor Fuel Tax dollars in 1997 and based on existing 
agreements with the State of Oklahoma, will continue receiving such funds until 2016. These funds are 
subject to general restriction under the agreement with the State of Oklahoma. Cherokee Nation Legislative 
Act 10-97 further restricted the use of these funds to those matters specifically appropriated by Act 10-97 and 
future legislative acts. A summary of activity in this reserved fund balance during the year ended September 
30,2005 follows (in thousands): 

Balance at beginning of year 
FY2005 Motor Fuel Tax revenues 
Interest earnings on unexpended funds 
Actual expenditures 

Balance at end of year $ 21,512 

Motor Vehicle Tax-In 2002, the Nation negotiated will; the State of Oklahoma a licensing compact in 
which the Nat~on could license motor vehicles and other vehicles owned by the Nation's enrolled citizens 



living within the jurisdictional area of the Cherokee Nation. The Cherokee Nation Motor Vehicle Code 
provided for annual payments by the Nation of 38% of such of revenues to Oklahoma public schools, 
Sequoyah High School, and Cherokee Nation Head Start Centers, an amount equal to 20% of such revenues 
for counties, municipalities, and federally- and/or state-funded highway construction or maintenance projects 
located within the jurisdictional area, and up to 20% of the remaining revenues net of costs incurred in 
administering the tag office for funding local law enforcement within the jurisdictional area. The term of the 
compact shall remain for a period of ten years. Amounts restricted for schools, highways, and law 
enforcement at September 30,2005 totaled approximately $4,761,000. A summary of activity in this reserved 
find balance during the year ended September 30,2005 follows (in thousands): 

Balance at beginning of year 
FY2005 Motor Vehicle Tax revenues 
Interest earnings on unexpended funds 
Actual expenditures 

Balance at end of year $ 4,761 

Indirect Cost Settlement-In 2001, the Nation was awarded a settlement as a member of the class action from 
the 10" Circuit Court of Appeals for under-recovered indirect costs for the years 1989-1993 (Ramah Navajo 
Chapter, et a1 v. Norton). Use of funds is only restricted by the terms of the settlement agreement approved 
by the Court for activities under P.L. 93-638 as amended. These funds were further restricted by Legislative 
Act 04-01, to those matters specifically appropriated by the Tribal Council. A summary of activity in this 
reserved fund balance during the year ended September 30,2005 follows (in thousands): 

Balance at beginning of year 
Interest earnings on unexpended funds 
Actual expenditures 

Balance at end of year $ 5,017 

Cash Reserve-In 2002, Legislative Act 5-02, authorized the establishment of a permanent Cash Reserve 
Fund to be maintained at 1.75% of total authorized appropriations in the annual comprehensive budget for 
each and every subsequent year thereafter. The total of this reserve at September 30,2005 was $1,256,000. 

Sequoyah Hieh School- In 2003, Legislative Act 5-03, appropriated $4,000,000 from the General Fund, 
specifically derived and/or accumulated from the CNE dividends of the fiscal year to fund the construction of 
the Multi-Purpose Facility at Sequoyah High School. This amount was to be "Reserved by Appropriation" 
and placed in a separate, restricted interest bearing account pending necessary architectural and engineering 
work to be performed in obtaining a specific project cost estimate. Legislative Act 17-04 increased the 
amount to be funded to the Multi-Purpose Facility by $2,000,000 and authorized the funds to be reallocated to 
the Construction Fund from current year reserves to cover project costs. It did not require a reservation of the 
fund balance on the additional $2,000,000. In 2005, Legislative Act 27-05 provided for a bridge loan !?om 
the General fund's Contingency Reserve to the Sequoyah High School Multi-Purpose Facility Construction 
fund in the amount of $1,500,000. No transfers of this funding occurred by the end of FY2005, and the act 



did not require a reservation of the $1,500,000. The reserved h d  balance and interest accumulated on the 
Sequoyah High School Multi-Purpose Facility at September 30,2005 follows (in thousands): 

Balance at beginning of year $ 4,060 
Interest earnings on unexpended funds 107 
Actual expenditures (3,788) 

Balance at end of year $ 379 

Arkansas River Drvbed Lands Settlement- In FY 2004, Legislative Act 5-04 established the policies and 
procedures for governing the use and expenditure of trust funds awarded to the Cherokee Nation under the 
Cherokee, Choctaw, and Chickasaw Nations Claims Settlement.Act ("Settlement Act''). ' h e  Settlement Act 
specifically set aside trust funds to be appropriated by Congress for Trust Land Acquisitions. The settlement 
proceeds, after payment of legal fees are reserved for the purchase of land in designated areas. The reserved 
fund balance and interest accumulated on the Arkansas River Drpbed Lands Settlment at September 30,2005 
follows (in thousands): 

Balance at beginning of year 
Transfer from Judgement Funds 
Reserve for attorney fees 
Actual expenditures 

Balance at end of year S 1,867 

Unreserved General Fund-A summary of activity in the unreserved General Fund balance for the year 
ended September 30,2005 follows (in thousands): 

Unreserved fund balance at beginning of year 
.FY2005 General Fund revenues and hansfers in 

Less: 
Additional funds restricted by Tribal Council in 2005 
Actual expenditures and transfers out 

Unreserved fund balance at end of year $ 24,175 

The remaining fund balance reserved by legislative acts resides in other governmental funds. 

13. LAR'FILL CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE CARE COSTS 

The Nation operates a solid waste landfill in eastern ~klahoma. The Nation accounts for this landfill 
operation in accordance with the provisions of GASB Stitement No. 18, "Accounting ior Municipal Solid' 
Waste Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs" ("Statement No. 18"), in the Landfili Operations 
Enterprise Fund. 



Federal regulations will require the Nation to place a final cover on its landfill site when it stops accepting 
waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for thirty years after closure. 
Although closure and postclosure care costs will only be paid near or after the date the landfill stops accepting 
waste, Statement No. 18 requires proprietary funds, such as Landfill Operations, to report a portion of these 
costs as an operating expense in each period based on landfill capacity and utilization. The $1,604,000 
reported as Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Liability at September 30, 2005 (included in "Other 
Noncurrent Liabilities"), represents the cumulative costs recognized to date based on the existing use of 29% 
of the total estimated capacity of the landfill. Landfill Operations will recognize the remaining estimated cost 
of closure and postclosure care of approximately $4.8 million as the remaining estimated capacity is filled. 
These estimated closure amounts are based on what it would cost to perform all closure and postclosure care 
in 2005. The Nation expects the landfill to have a remaining life of approximately 30 years. Actual costs 
may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in regulations. . . 

The Nation makes annual contributions to a restricted bank account to finance closure and postclosure care. 
At September 30, 2005, restricted cash and cash equivalents of approximately $1,691,000 were held for these 
purposes. The Nation expects that future inflation costs will be paid ??om interest earnings on these annual 
contributions. However, if interest eamings are inadequate or additional postclosure care requirements are 
necessary (due to changes in technology or applicable laws or regulations, for example), such costs may need 
to be funded by charges to future landfill users or other revenue sources. 

~ffective' July 1, 2005, the Cherokee Nation entered into an operating agreement with Indian County 
Investments, LLC, ("ICI") to have the exclusive right to manage and operate Cherokee Nation Sanitary 
Landfill ("CNSL"). This agreement has a tern of the life of the facility, which is an estimated 30 plus years. 
Within this agreement ICI has agreed to pay the Nation $3 million dollars, for certain equipment and the 
operating rights for the facility, of which, $300,000 was paid to the Nation by ICI upon execution of this 
agreement which is reported as deferred revenue at September 30,2005. The remaining $2.7 million is due to 
the Nation upon completion by ICI of the facility master plan and approval by the Cherokee Nation 
Environmental Protection Commission ("CNEPC"). Approximately $1 million of the $3 million is for the 
purchase of assets, the remaining $2 million is attributed to the operating rights and will be amortized over the 
remaining estimated life of the facility. 

Under the agreement the Nation is to receive a quarterly host fee that is based upon actual tonnage generated 
at the CNSL. Until CNSL has received approval of the facility master plan from the CNEPC, ICI will pay to 
the Nation a host fee of $2.00 per ton of waste generated at the CNSL quarterly. Upon completion of this 
permit, ICI has committed to pay the Nation an annual guaranteed host fee of $500,000 per year for the 
subsequent two (2) years, $750,000 for year 3 and $900,000 for year 4 and all subsequent years. 

14. RISK MANAGEMENT Ah?) SELF-INSURED HEALTH PLANS 

The Nation manages its risk exposures through risk retention and the purchase of insurance. In the area of 
health benefits, the Nation utilizes a modified self-insured program with a third party administrator. Claims 
for benefits are paid by the Nation to a level of $150,000 per year per employee. Amounts over $150,000 are 
subject to reimbursement by the insurance company. 

The Nation is self-insured against employee health and short-term disability claims incurred under its 
employee group health disability plan. The maximum liability risk to the Nation is $150,000 peremployee 
per year. Any claims in excess of this limit are covered by insurance. Significant insumble exposures other 
than health claims are covered by commercial insurance. For insured exposures, there were no significant 



reductions in insurance coverage during the year ended September 30, 2005. Additionally, settlement 
amounts have not been in excess of insurance coverage in each of the past three years. 

Workers' Compensation benefits are now provided within the All Lines Aggregate program described below. 
There is $100,000 retention with a maximum benefit of $1,000,000 each accident or diseaseleach employee 
applies. 

In most other areas, the first $100,000 of risk is retained with the All Lines Aggregate program responding to 
losses occuning between $100,000 - $1,000,000. A stop loss equivalent to 1.8% of payroll is in place to limit 
the Nation's exposure. Coverage provided by the All Lines Aggregate program include the following 
exposures: Commercial Auto, General Liability, Crime, Employee Dishonesty, Commercial Property, 
Builders' Risk, Equipment, Directors' & Officers' Liability, Errors and Omissions Liability, Law 
Enforcement Officials Liability, Employee Benefit Liability, Employment Related Practices Liability, 
Medical Malpractice and Workers' Compensation. A $10,000,000 umbrella goes over most underlying 
liability coverage(s) with the exception of Medical Malpractice. 

The Nation's reported employee health claims liability of $3,303,000 at Septeinber 30, 2005, has been 
recorded in accordance with GASB Statement No. 10, which requires that a liability for claims be reported if 
information prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has 
been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 

The claims liability has been estimated based upon historical claims experience. The Nation believes that this 
method of estimating the liability is sufficient to determine the amount of open claims and to provide for 
claims that have been incurred but not reported ("IBNR"). Changes in the reported liability have been as 
follows (in thousands): 

Claims 
Balance a t  and Balance at  
Beginning Changes in Claim End of 

Fiscal Year of Year Estimates Payments Year 

The claims above are expected to be paid from currently available financial resources and are included in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying Proprietary Funds statement of net assets. 

15. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PIAN 

The following brief descriptions of the Nation's retirement plans are provided for general information 
purposes only. Participants should refer to the applicable plan documents for more complete information. 
The Nation sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan, which utilizes P.eliance Trust Company, as instee. 
A defined contribution plan provides retirement benefits in return for services rendered, provides an 
individual account for each participant, and specifies how contributions to the individual's account are to be 
determined. Under a defined contribution plan, the benefits a participant will receive depend solely on the 
amount contributed to the participant's account, the returns earned on investments of those contributions, and 
forfeitures of other participants' benefits that may be allocated to such participant's account. All regular full- 
time and regular part-time employees who have attamed at least 18 years of age are eligible to participate in 



the plan upon employment. The plan year is January 1 through December 31. Participants become fully 
vested after four years of participation in the plan. Employees may contribute from 1% to 25% of their gross 
salary,,and after 6 months of service the Nation will match 100% for the first 5% and 50% of the next 4%. 
The plan is administered by the Group Leader of Human Resources, with input from the Nation's Pension 
Committee. The Pension Committee consists of the plan administrator and employees of the Nation. The 
plan administrator is responsible for amending the plans' provisions, including contribution requirements. 

The Nation's total gross payroll for fiscal 2005 was approximately $71 million, which included 
approximately $67.5 million for employees covered by the plans. 

Contributions to the 4 0 1 0  plan for 2005 were $5,193,275. Contributions expressed in dollars and percent of 
covered payroll were: Nation $2,269,607, 3.4%, and participants $2,923,668,4.3%. 

Trend Information 
(in thousands) 

Required Percentage 
Fiscal Year Contribution Contribution 

2003 $ 1,781 100% 
2004 $ 2,073 100% 
2005 $ 2,269 100% 

In 2004 the Nation sponsored a deferred compensation 457@) plan, which utilizes Nationwide Trust 
Company, FSB as trustee. A deferred compensation plan provides retirement benefits and provides an 
individual account for each participant, and specifies how contributions to the individual's account are to be 
determined. Under a deferred compensation plan, the benefits a participant will receive depend solely on the 
amount contributed to the participant's account and the returns earned on investments of those contributions. 
The 457(b) plan mirrors the 401(k) eligibility requirements and also allows participation of elected officials. 
The plan year is January 1 through December 31. Participants become fully vested after four years of 
participation in the plan. Employees may contribute up to 100% of their gross salary, and after 6 months of 
service the Nation will match 100% for the first 5% and 50% of the next 4%, not to exceed a total combined 
match of 7% in all retirement plans. The plan is administered by the Group Leader of Human Resources, with 
input from the Nation's Pension Committee. The Pension Committee consists of the plan administrator and 
employees of the Nation. The plan administrator is responsible for amending the plans' provisions, including 
contribution requirements. Contributions to the 457(b) plan for 2005 were $257,088 of which $68,644 was 
required and made by the Nation and $1 88,444 was made by participants. 

The discretely presented component units maintain separate employee retirement plans. Details of these plans 
are available in the reports of the respective component units. 

16. COhIRDTMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Delaware Litigation-In 1998, Cherokee Nation- challenged the Secretary of the Interior's decision to 
recognize the Delaware Tribe of Indians as a federally recognized Indian tribe existing independently of the 
Cherokee Nation. The 10" Circuit Court in 1994 reversed the District Court, holding that the Delaware were 
"incorporated" into the Cherokee Nation by an 1867 treaty and thus not a federally recognized Indian tribe. 



The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 3,2005. Final judgment was filed on October 
26,2005. Negotiations are ongoing to resolve issues concerning the relationship of the parties. 

Citizenship Litigation-The Nation is involved with two pending cases involving citizenship in the Cherokee 
Nation. One case, filed in the District Court, has a pending motion to dismiss. The second case, filed in the 
Cherokee Nation Judicial Appeals Tribunal has been ruled in favor of the plaintiff as of March 7, 2006. The 
net impact of these cases is not cerkin but is not expected to have a material adverse impact on the Nation. 

Federal Grants-In the normal course of operations, t!!e Nation and its component units receive grant funds 
from various federal agencies. The grant programs are subject to audit by agents of the granting authority, the 
purpose of which is to insure compliance with conditions precedent with the granting of funds. Management 
does not believe any liability for reimbursement which may arise as the result of these audits will be material. 

Other Legal Contineencies-The Nation and its component units are party to various legal proceedings, 
which normally occur, in governmental operations. The legal proceedings, in the opinion of management, 
based on available information, are not likely to have a material adverse impact on the affected funds of the 
Nation. 

HACN Matters-The HACN has provided a "Tax &edit Recapture Guarantee" to the Limited Partners of Jay 
Senior Housing, Stilwell Senior Housing, and the Wisdom Keepers Limited Partnerships (third party 
syndicators of the tax credits) should the Internal Revenue Service disallow the use of any of the tax credits 
being marketed to third party investors by the Limited Partners. The HACN has also provided "Operating 
Deficit Guarantees" to the Limited Partners of Jay and Stilwell Senior Eousing Limited Partnerships and 
Wisdom Keepers Limited Partnerships which would require the Housing Authority to provide capital for 
operations should the need arise. 

CNE Matters-New games continue to be introduced at the gaming sites, which management of CNE 
believes are permitted under Class I1 gaming restrictions or the Compact; however, the permissibility of these 
games can and may be challenged by licensing and governing authorities that exercise jurisdiction over these 
activities. 

CNE has entered into a guarantee agreement with the Nation related to the Nation's 1996 note agreement 
committing future operating transfer amounts up to $216,000 annually though 2012. 

CNE, as part of the purchase price of Will Rogers Downs, is obligated to pay the sellers $1,500,000 upon the 
land being placed into trust status with the Bureau of Indian Affairs. As of September 30,2005, the land had 
not been put into trust. Additionally, as part of the purchase price, CNE is obligated to make "eamout" 
payments of either 25% or 40% of an amount known as "net cash flow share" determined  om a formula of 
net income from WRD plus various adjustments. The payment percentage is 25% if the land is in trust and 
40% if not. The eamout payments continue for either seven or eight years, depending upon events, as which 
time, CNE may "buy out" its obligation to continue making "eamout" payments. Otherwise the earnout 
payments continue. As WRD was limited in its operations since being purchased by C h F  in March 2004, no 
eamout payments were required for 2005. 

17. CNI IRVESTnlENT IN GLOBAL ENERGY DISTRIBUTION GROW. IdLC 

CNI entered into a unit purchase agreement with Global Ene ra  Distribution Group, LLC ("GEDG"), dated 
May 18, 2005, to purchase approximately 122,000 iu~its of GEDG, representing approxim~tely 61% of the 
issued and outstanding units in GEDG. As of June 30, 2005, CLD hzd completed the initial purchase of 
24,390 units representing 12.2% of the issued and outstinding units in GEDG at a purchase price of 



$500,000. As a condition of the Unit Purchase Agreement entered into on May 18; 2005, Global Energy 
Group, Inc. ("GEG"), a Delaware corporation, entered into a securities purchase agreement, with the members 
of GEDG to purchase GEDG through the issuance of 81,746,409 shares of GEG common stock, representing 
approximately 81% of the GEG common shares expected to be outstanding following the acquisition. 

The second closing of the unit purchase agreement was completed on August 19, 2005. CNI acquired an 
additional 97,910 units of GEDG for a total purchase price of $2,000,000 which was financed kom CNI's 
revolving line of credit. The securities purchase agreement was completed on August 19, 2005. CND 
exchanged 122,000 units of GEDG for 49,865,310 shares of GEG. In addition GEG assigned voting rights ' 

for two classes of voting Preferred Stock, Series A and Series B, to CND. CNI has an exclusive 
. ' manufacturing agreement with GEG to manufacture products for GEG. CND has the exclusive distribution 

rights to GEG products in the government market sector of the business. As of June 30, 2005, CNI had 
$380,000 of GEG inventory on hand. 

18. SUBSEOUEAT EVENTS 

CNBICNEICNI Matters-Effective December 14, 2005, the Nation passed legislation which authorized the 
transfer of the ownership of C_NE, CNI and CND from the Nation to CNB, a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Nation. The transfers of ownership have not occurred as of the issuance of this report, but are expected to 
occur before the end of FY2006. The legislation sets aside a minimum of 40% of netincome from (SNE 
operations will be used to fund expansions in CNE's core businesses for fiscal years 2006 through 2008. The 
remaining net income, after dividends of 30%, will be available to fund diversification and jobs growth efforts 
of all business operations. 

CNE Matter-In January 2006, CNE loaned the Nation $1,300,000 to be used for expansion of a landfill. 
The note bears interest of 7% per annum and is paid in monthly installments of $15,096 beginning January 
30,2006 through December 2007, with all remaining principal and interest due on December 30,2007. 

CNB Matters-In January 2005, CNB was notified that it had been selected to receive five grants for which it 
had applied under the Community-Oriented Connectivity Broadband Grant Program administered by the U.S. 
Department of Agriculture Rural Utilities Service aggregating $3,444,370. The funds provided by the grants 
together with a required match of 15%, aggregating $607,830 to be provided by CNB, are designated to be 
used to provide wireless broadband services to five rural communities located in eastern Oklahoma. 
Although the grants were applied for in the name of CNB, Connex has an agreement with a service provider, 
who assisted in locating and applying for the grant funds to pay fees of $103,331 for such services when and 
if the funding is received. As of this report, the grant projects have not been initiated and no funds were 
drawn on the grant award. Cherokee Nation, through the Information Systems group, has agreed to 
administer the grants, pending approval from U.S. Department of Agriculture Rural Utilities Service. 

Subsequent to September 30, 2005, Connex had drawn down all funding available under its terin and 
revolving line of credit arrangements with CT, and Ct has evidenced no interest in providing additional 
financial support. Connex minority owners have provided continual funding to Connex either directly, 
through advances, or indirectly, by taking salary reductions and relaxing payment requirements on Connex' 
tower leases with Gold Towers (jointly owned by Ron Gates and Elmer Hemphill). The minority owners 
have committed to continue funding the cash needs of Connex as they progress through the development 
stage, which based on current estimates, will be the fiscal year ending September 30,2007. 

CNHHS Matter-Effective October 1,2005, CNHHS implemented a 401(k) plan and.a flexible spending plan 
(Section 155) to all eligible participants. 



Cherokee National Historical Sociew-In November 2005, the Nation, CNE, and the Cherokee National 
Historical Society (CNHS) entered into a Memorandum of Agreement to further the parties shared mission to 
preserve the culture and history of the Cherokees by assigning duties to the party that can best perform those 
duties. CNHS remained responsible for all charitable fundraising maintaining memberships, operating the 
museum, and teaching the Cherokee Humanities Course. CNE will provide marketing services, including 
group sales and operating the museum store. By the Memorandum of Agreement, CN is to perform all 
remaining operational and educational functions such as accounting, purchasing, contracts, human resources, 
information technology, and facilities maintenance. . 

Health Care Capital Construction-Tribal Council has approved borrowing up to $30 million for construction 
of Health Care facilities located in Muskogee and Nowata, and the expansion of the existing Sallisaw Health 
Care facility. Subsequent to September 30, 2005, the Nation entered into a joint venture agreement with 
Indian Health Services @IS) to fund the operational costs for the Muskogee facility upon completion. The 
estimated completion date of the Muskogee facility is2008. 

Tobacco Compact with the State of Oklahoma - The Nation has requested arbitration to resolve differences 
arising from its' tobacco compact with the state of Oklahoma. The differences arose when the state repealed 
sales tax on cigarettes, which the Nation contends is forbidden in the terms of the compact. The arbitration 
process is not expected to have any significant impact on the financials statements of the Nation. 

19. HACN RESTATEMENT 

At September 30, 2004, HACN reported certain account balances on the statement of net assets for 
investments, loans and other costs incurred for the Low Income Housing Tax Credit projects. During the 
current year, HACN concluded that it had not properly accounted for the loans, project costs, land leased to 
partnerships, and development fees initially recorded in connection with these parhership transactions. The 
actual amounts reflected in the prior year statement of net assets were as follows: 

Notes receivable-partnerships 
Mortgages receivable -partnerships 
Investment in partnerships 
Land leased to partnerships 

Total 

These balances did not reflect the nature of the actual investment, loans and other costs incurred by HACN. 
The amount reflected as investment in partnerships and land leased to partnerships totaling $1,514,780, 
actually represented the costs of land and improvements leased to certain of the partnerships for 99 years at $1 
per year for which HACN received no equity in the partnerships. This effectively represented a contribution 
that should have been expensed when made. The notes and mortgage balances reflected above actually 
represented receivables of $2,250,000 and equity investments in the partnerships of $1,390,000. Many of the 
receivables reflect no interest rate and one receivable reflects a rate that is not considered commensurate with 
the risk in these transactions. IIad these receivables been discounted to reflect an appropriate rate of return 
accorded to similar investments, the notes would have been reduced to a vzlue of approximately $93,000, 
resulting in a reduction of the related assets of $2,157,000. The discouni shouid be accreted back to income 
over the tenn of the loans. HACN also received a development fee of $991,000 in connect,ion with these 
partnerships, of which approximately $390,000 was recorded as revenue in 2004. Since HACN performed no 
substantive services during development, and no such services are expected in the future, it was determined 
that such fees should have been used to reduce the investment in loans and land costs incurred by HACN in 
connection with these partnership transactions. 



As a result of the above adjustments, the net assets at September 30,2004, have been restated as follows: 

Net assets-September 30,2004--as previously reported $ 114,887,998 
Adjustment to: 

Correct accounting for land and improvements donated to partnerships (1,514,780) 
Discount receivables from partnerships (2,157,000) 
Properly account for development fees 601,000 

Net assets-~e~tember 30,2004-as restated $ 111,817,218 

Ending net assets for HACN, as of September 30,2004, were approximately $11 1,817,000 as restated. 
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Governmental Fund Types - Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions of the 
Nation a r e  financed. The acquisition, use and balances of the Nation's expendable financial resources and the 
related liabilities (except those accounted for in proprietary funds) are accounted for through governmental funds. 
Governmental fund types use the current financial resources measurement focus. This measurement focus is upon 
the receipt and disbursement of current available financial resources rather than upon net income. 
Special Revenue Funds - Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of government grants or other 
specific revenue sources that are restricted by law or administrative action to finance particular functions or 
activities o f  the Nation. These funds include: 

Self Governance DO1 - Other - Established to account for funds received under the Nation's self 
governance compact with the United States government. These funds are used to administer a number of 
programs under the Department of Interior relating to education, health and welfare, and tribal government 
within the Nation's geographic boundaries. . Sequoyah Education - Established to account for grant funds received from the Depamnent of the Interior 
t o  help fund the education programs of Sequoyah High School. 
Talking Leaves Job Corps - Established to account for funds received from the Department of Labor for 
counseling, training and job placement of disadvantaged youth. 
Diabetes - Established to account for Department of Health and Human Services Diabetes Grant funds 
used to purchase diabetic medicines and supplies, promote awareness and provide assistance to diabetic 
patients. 
Food Distribution - Established to account for Department of Agriculture food products provided to the 
Nation and grant funds used to pay administrative and program costs of a program which provides food to 
eligible Indian families. . Women, Infants and Children - Established to account for grant funds received from the Department of 
Agriculture to supply supplemental food and nutrition education to women and children at nutritional risk. 
Head Start - Estabiisbed to account for grant funds from the Department of Health and Human Services to 
provide comprehensive health, educational, nutritional, social, and other services primarily to economically 
disadvantaged preschool Indian children. 
PL102-477 - Established to account for funds received through the Department of the Interior from the 
Department of Labor for counseling, training and job placement of disadvantaged youth, as well as from 
the Department of Health and Human Services to provide child care services for low-income families with 
a parent that is working or attending a training or educational program. 
Title VI - Established to account for borrowing and lending activities related to the United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development Title VI loan agreement, the proceeds of which are 
obtained from federal government guaranteed bank financing and subsequently loaned to the Cherokee 
Nation Housing Authority, a component unit of the Nation. 
EDTA - Changed to Enterprise fund type in FY2005. 
Other  Grants - Established to account for various sources of grant hnds  used to fund specific program 
activities. 
Tribal Judgment Funds - Established to account for monies received by the Nation from the settlement of 
disputes with the United States government. The judgment monies are expended in accordance with plans 
for use and distribution adopted by the Nation and approved as applicable, by the Secretary of the Interior. 
The judgment fund is controlled and administered by the Bureau of Indian Affairs. 
Tribal Trusts -Established to account for income received from external users of tribal lands, such as oil 
and gas royalties. The Bureau of Indian Affairs adnnnisters these funds which may be expended upon 
request and approval by the Secretary. 

Permanent Funds -Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only 
earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes supporting the Nation's programs. 

Sequoyah Endowment - Established to account for funds endowed from the Louise K. Green-Matthews 
Grant in Environmental Science. The income from the grant is to be used to encourage Cherokee students 
of  at least one-quarter blood quantum to engage in furthering their education in the Environmental Science 
field. 
Gammon Educational Trust - Established to account for funds endowed by Glenn L. and Faye V. 
Gammon Trnst. The income from this educational nust may be used to provide tuition and related 
educational assistance while they anend any accredited college or university located in the continental 
United States. The Cherokee students must be at least one-quarter blood quantum. 
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Enterprise Funds - Enterprise funds are used to account for the Nation's ongoing organizations and 
activities which are similar to those often found in the private sector where the intent is that costs of 
providing goods and services be recovered through user charges. The measurement focus of the 
Enterprise Funds, the flow of econom~c resources, is upon determination of net income, financial position 
and capital maintenance. The enterprise funds of the Nation, all of which are nonmajor, include: 

Tsa-La-Gi Apartments - Utilized to account for the operations of the Nation's federally 
subsidized low-income housing apartment complex, whose operating focus is to provide housing 
for qualified tribal members and to recover costs of operations. 

Landfill Operations - Utilized to account for the solid waste landfill operations of the Nation 
located in Stilwell, Oklahoma. 

EDTA - Established by Tribal Council Legislative Act 36-89 as a mechanism to promote 
economic development. Its mission is to provide opportunities for income generation through 
economic development, to provide loans for business creationiexpansion, and to provide loans to 
qualified individuals whom have traditionally been denied through conventional lending sources. 
EDTA moved from the Special Revenue fund to Enterprise fund in FY2005. 

Childllood Development Center - Utilized to account for the activities of the Cherokee Nation 
Childhood Development Centers that provide childcare to low income families at a reduced or 
subsidized rate. The Nat~on intends to recover the majority of future costs of operating the 
Childhood Development Centers primarily through user charges. This fund changed fund type to 
Special Revenue In FY2006. 

Other Enterprises - Utilized to account for various other small proprietary programs operated 
by the Nation such as Enterprise Management, 202 HUD Housing Management, Indian Health 
Services Personnel Service Agreement, Home Maintenance and Cherokee Navigation. 



CHEROKEE NATION 
COMBINING STATEMENT O F  NET ASSETS - NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
SEPTEMBER 30,2005 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Childhood 
Tsa-La-GI Landfill Development Other 

Apartments Operations EDTA Centers Enterprises Total 

ASSETS 

C u m t  assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Accounts receivable, net 
Due from other funds 
Nates receivable, current 
OUlm currmt assets 

Total current arsets 

N o n c m t  assea: 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Long-term notes raeivable 
Capital assets, na 

Totsl assets 

LIABILITIES 

Cumnt liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Current portion of long-term debt 
Due to other fun& 
Other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities 

Noncurrent liabilities: 
Long - tm  unearned revenue 
Long-term debt 
Other liabilities 

Total noncurrent liabilities 

Total liabilities 

NET ASSETS 
Invested h capital assets, net of related debt 
Unrestricted net -W(deficit) 

Total net assets 



CHEROKEE NATION 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF R E m h W S ,  EXPENSES mQ CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS - 
NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE IWNQS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2005 
(Dollan in Thourmdr) 

. . 
Enterprise Funds 

Childhood 
Tsa-La-GI Landfill Development Olbsr 
Apartments Operations EDTA Centers Entrrprlsn Total 

Operating revenues: 
Properry rentals 
Charges for services and goods 
Other 

Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses: 
Salaries and wages 
Other services and charges 
Materials and supplies 
Depreciation and amanizatian 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 
Interest income 
Interest expense 

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

le (lass) before wnsfen 

Change in nd  assets 

Total net assee -beginning 

Total net assets - ending 



CHEROKEE NATION 

COMBINING STATEMENT O F  CASH FLOWS - NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAJt ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,ZGQS 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Business-type Activities- 
Enterprise Funds 

Childhood 
TSP-Ln-Gi Landfill Development Other 
Apartments Operations EDTA Centers Enterprises Total 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Receipts from customers $ 468 16 1,969 $ - $ 765 $ - S 3,202 
Payments to suppliers (212) (894) (118) (189) (16) (1,429) 
Payments to employees (39) (522) (747) - (1,308) 
lntemal activity,net - payments (to)/from other funds 1,845 (377) (11) 1.457 
Other receipts 

Net cash provided/(used) by operating activities 

Cash flows fmm noncapilal financing activities 
Operating subsidies and transfers (to)/from other funds 
Cash balance upon transfer to enterprise fund 

Net cash provided by noncapital 
financing activities 

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities 
Purchases of capital assets 
Proceeds from capilal debt 
Principal paid on capital debt 
Interest paid an capital debt 

Net cash (used) by capital and related 
financing activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Intenst and dividends received 

Net cash provided by investing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10 786 1,292 (245) (10) 1,833 

Cash and cash equivalents, October 1,2004 189 1,363 377 10 1,939 

Cash and cash equivalents, September 30,2005 $ 199 $ 2,149 $ 1,292 $ 132 $ - $ 3,772 

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided 
(used) by operating activities: 

Opmting income Oass) $ 171 $ (268) $ (104) $ (264) $ (15) $ (480) 
Adjustments to raoncilc operating income to net cash 

provided (used) by operating activities: 
Dcpreciatian expense 52 874 926 

Change in assets and liabilities: 
Receivables and due from (to) other funds (247) 44 109 6 (88) 
Liabilities and other payables 

Net cash provided by operating activities 



INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 

C'H[EROKEE NATION 
COMPREI-IENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 



111ternal Service funds are used to account for rhe financing of goods and services provided by one fund 
LO other funds within the Nation on a cost reimbursement basis. 

Internal Leases is used to account for the cost to maintain certain buildings for use hy other 
funds of the Nation. 

Force Accounts is used to acquire and maintain equipment and supplies used by other funds of 
the Nation. 

Fringe Pool is used to account for the cost of fringe benefits, including the Nation's self-insured 
health care benefits and workers' compensation benefits, used by other funds of the Nation. 

Indirect Cost Pool is used to account for the cost of providing certain services, such as 
accounting, numan resources and acquisition management, to other funds of the Nation. 

Construction is used to account for the cost to manage construction of buildings for use by other 
funds of the Nation. 
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